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 FORM 5 
 

QUARTERLY LISTING STATEMENT  

Name of CNSX Issuer: Advantex Marketing International Inc. (the “Issuer”). 

Trading Symbol: ADX 

 

This Quarterly Listing Statement must be posted on or before the day on which the 
Issuer’s unaudited interim financial statements are to be filed under the Securities Act, 
or, if  no interim statements are required to be filed for the quarter, within 60 days of the 
end of the Issuer’s first, second and third fiscal quarters.  This statement is not intended 
to replace the Issuer’s obligation to separately report material information forthwith upon 
the information becoming known to management or to post the forms required by the 
CNSX Policies.  If material information became known and was reported during the 
preceding quarter to which this statement relates, management is encouraged to also 
make reference in this statement to the material information, the news release date and 
the posting date on the CNSX.ca website. 

General Instructions 

(a) Prepare this Quarterly Listing Statement using the format set out below.  The 
sequence of questions must not be altered nor should questions be omitted or 
left unanswered.  The answers to the following items must be in narrative form.  
When the answer to any item is negative or not applicable to the Issuer, state it in 
a sentence.  The title to each item must precede the answer. 

(b) The term “Issuer” includes the CNSX Issuer and any of its subsidiaries. 

(c) Terms used and not defined in this form are defined or interpreted in Policy 1 – 
Interpretation and General Provisions. 

 
There are three schedules which must be attached to this report as follows: 
 

SCHEDULE A:  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
Financial statements are required as follows: 
 
For the first, second and third financial quarters interim financial statements prepared in 
accordance with the requirements under Ontario securities law must be attached.    
     

Interim consolidated financial statements for the three and six months 
ended December 31, 2018 are attached as Schedule A. 
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If the Issuer is exempt from filing certain interim financial statements, give the date of 
the exempting order. 
 

N/A 
 
SCHEDULE B:  SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

 
The supplementary information set out below must be provided when not 
included in Schedule A. 

     
 
1. Related party transactions 
 

Provide disclosure of all transactions with a Related Person, including those 
previously disclosed on Form 10. Include in the disclosure the following 
information about the transactions with Related Persons: 
 
(a) A description of the relationship between the transacting parties.  Be as 

precise as possible in this description of the relationship.  Terms such as 
affiliate, associate or related company without further clarifying details are 
not sufficient. 

(b) A description of the transaction(s), including those for which no amount 
has been recorded. 

(c) The recorded amount of the transactions classified by financial statement 
category. 

(d) The amounts due to or from Related Persons and the terms and 
conditions relating thereto. 

(e) Contractual obligations with Related Persons, separate from other 
contractual obligations. 

(f) Contingencies involving Related Persons, separate from other 
contingencies. 

 
The information connected to related party transactions is provided in note 
10 to the attached interim consolidated financial statements for the three 
and six months ended December 31, 2018. 
 

2. Summary of securities issued and options granted during the period. 
 

Provide the following information for the period beginning on the date of the last 
Listing Statement (Form 2A): 
 
(a) summary of securities issued during the period, 
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Date of 

Issue 

 

Type of 

Security 

(common 

shares, 

convertible 

debentures, 

etc.) 

Type of 

Issue 

(private 

placement, 

public 

offering, 

exercise of 

warrants, 

etc.) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Number 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Price 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Total 

Proceeds 

 

 

 

 

Type of 

Consideration 

(cash, 

property, etc.) 

 

Describe 

relationship 

of Person 

with Issuer 

(indicate if 

Related 

Person) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Commission 

Paid 

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

 
(b) summary of options granted during the period, 
 

 

 

Date 

 

 

Number 

 

Name of Optionee 

if Related Person 

and relationship 

 

Generic description 

of other Optionees 

 

 

Exercise Price 

 

 

Expiry Date 

 

Market 

Price on 

date of 

Grant 

N/A N/A 
 

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

 
3. Summary of securities as at the end of the reporting period.  
 

Provide the following information in tabular format as at the end of the reporting 
period: 
 
(a) description of authorized share capital including number of shares for 

each class, dividend rates on preferred shares and whether or not 
cumulative, redemption and conversion provisions, 

 
(b) number and recorded value for shares issued and outstanding, 

 
(c) description of options, warrants and convertible securities outstanding, 

including number or amount, exercise or conversion price and expiry date, 
and any recorded value, and 

 
(d) number of shares in each class of shares subject to escrow or pooling 

agreements or any other restriction on transfer. 
 

 
(a) As at December 31, 2018 the authorized share capital was the same 

as at June 30, 2018. The authorized share capital as at June 30, 2018 
is disclosed in note 9(a) to the audited consolidated financial 
statements for year ended June 30, 2018 which are available under 
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the Issuers profile on www.sedar.com. 
 
 
(b) As at December 31, 2018 and June 30, 2018 there were issued and 

outstanding: 
 

i) 782,299,614 common shares, and  
ii) 461,887 class A preference shares  
  
The number of issued class A preference shares and common shares is 
provided by the Issuer’s transfer agent. 
 
(c) As at December 31, 2018, note 9 to the attached interim consolidated 

financial statements for the three and six months ended December 31, 
2018 provides details of stock options. 
 

(d) None. 
 
4. List the names of the directors and officers, with an indication of the position(s) 

held, as at the date this report is signed and filed. 
 

     
William Polley Director, Chairman of the Board of Directors, member 

of the Audit Committee, Member of the Compensation 

and Governance Committee 

Marc Lavine Director, Chairman of the Audit Committee, Chairman of 

the Compensation and Governance Committee 

Kelly Ambrose Director, CEO, President, and Secretary; Member of    
the Audit Committee, Member of the Compensation and 
Governance Committee 

Mukesh Sabharwal CFO and VP 

            
                  
 
SCHEDULE C: MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

 
Provide Interim MD&A if required by applicable securities legislation. 

 
The interim MD&A for the three and six month periods ended December 31, 
2018 and 2017 is attached as Schedule C. 

 

 

 

http://www.sedar.com/
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Certificate Of Compliance 

The undersigned hereby certifies that: 

1. The undersigned is a director and/or senior officer of the Issuer and has been 
duly authorized by a resolution of the board of directors of the Issuer to sign 
this Quarterly Listing Statement. 

2. As of the date hereof there is no material information concerning the Issuer 
which has not been publicly disclosed. 

3. The undersigned hereby certifies to CNSX that the Issuer is in compliance 
with the requirements of applicable securities legislation (as such term is 
defined in National Instrument 14-101) and all CNSX Requirements (as 
defined in CNSX Policy 1). 

4. All of the information in this Form 5 Quarterly Listing Statement is true. 

Dated: February 27, 2019. 

 Kelly Ambrose 
Name of Director or Senior Officer 

                                                                              “Kelly Ambrose”                                     
Signature 

CEO and President  
Official Capacity 
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Issuer Detail 
Name of Issuer 

Advantex Marketing International Inc. 

For  Quarter 
Ended 
 
December 31, 
2018 

Date of Report 
YY/MM/D 
 
2019/02/27 

Issuer Address 
 
600 Alden Road, Suite 606 

City/Province/Postal Code 
 
Markham, ON, L3R 0E7 
 
 

Issuer Fax No. 
 
(905) 946 2984 

Issuer Telephone No. 
 
(905) 470 9558 

Contact Name 
 
 
Kelly Ambrose 

Contact Position 
 
CEO and   
President 

Contact Telephone No. 
 
 
(905)  946 2957 

Contact Email Address 
 
Kelly.ambrose@advantex.com 

Web Site Address 
 
www.advantex.com 
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SCHEDULE A 

 
 

ADVANTEX MARKETING INTERNATIONAL INC. 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the three and six months ended December 31, 2018 
 
 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared by 
management and approved by the Board of Directors of the company. Management is 
responsible for the information and representations contained in these consolidated 
financial statements and other sections of this report.  
 

An auditor has not performed a review of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Advantex Marketing International Inc. 

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position (unaudited) 

(expressed in Canadian dollars) 

 
 

Note At December              

30, 2018

At June                      

30, 2018

$ $

Assets
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 136,411$                 635,836$                 

Accounts receivable 176,375 112,322

Transaction credits 5 6,656,069 5,592,426

Prepaid expenses and sundry assets 83,036                      79,349                      

7,051,891$             6,419,933$             

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 33,813$                   43,969$                   

33,813$                   43,969$                   

Total assets 7,085,704$             6,463,902$             

Liabilities
Current liabilities

Loan payable 6 5,482,636$             4,427,390$             

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 2,167,288                2,843,718                

7,649,924$             7,271,108$             

Non-current liabilities

9% Non-convertibles debentures payable 7 4,820,512                4,547,951                

4,820,512$             4,547,951$             

Shareholders' deficiency
Share capital 8 24,530,555$           24,530,555$           

Contributed surplus 4,090,382 4,090,382

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (47,383)                    (47,383)                    

Deficit (33,958,286)             (33,928,711)             

Total deficiency (5,384,732)$           (5,355,157)$           

Total liabilities and deficiency 7,085,704$             6,463,902$             

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

Approved by the Board

Director: Signed "William Polley" Director: Signed "Kelly Ambrose"

                                William Polley                                 Kelly Ambrose

Economic/Financial dependence and Going Concern (note 2), Commitments and contingencies (note 11)
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Advantex Marketing International Inc. 

Consolidated Statements of Profit/(Loss) and Comprehensive Profit/(Loss) (unaudited) 

For the three and six months ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 

(expressed in Canadian dollars) 

 

Note

2018 2017 2018 2017

$ $ $ $

Revenues 14 1,812,853$             1,978,166$             3,658,987$             3,984,335$             

Direct expenses 13/14 376,062                   593,425                   820,573                   1,206,904                

1,436,791                1,384,741                2,838,414                2,777,431                

Operating expenses

Selling and marketing 13/14 388,045                   442,664                   855,464                   922,862                   

General and administrative 13/14 613,509                   578,371                   1,151,626                1,327,455                

Earnings from operations before depreciation, 

amortization and interest

435,237                   363,706                   831,324                   527,114                   

Interest expense:

Stated interest expense - loan payable, and debentures 6/7 296,161                   316,588                   575,372                   642,410                   

Non-cash interest expense (accretion charges) and 

restructuring bonus related to debentures

7 136,886                   6,802                       272,561                   6,802                       

2,190                        40,316                      (16,609)                    (122,098)                  

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment, and 

amortization of intangible assets

7,018                       8,246                       12,966                     17,137                     

Profit/(loss) and comprehensive profit/(loss) before non-

recurring item

(4,828)$                   32,070$                   (29,575)$                 (139,235)$               

Gain on debt restructuring 7 -$                          1,795,103$              -$                         1,795,103$              

Net profit/(loss) and comprehensive profit/(loss) (4,828)$                   1,827,173$             (29,575)$                 1,655,868$             

Profit/(Loss) per share

Basic and Diluted 12 -$                         0.01$                       -$                         0.01$                       

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

Three months ended December 31 Six months ended December 31
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Advantex Marketing International Inc. 

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Deficiency (unaudited) 

For the three and six months ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 

(expressed in Canadian dollars) 

 

 

Class A 

preference 

shares

Common 

shares

Contributed 

surplus

Accumulated 

other 

comprehen - 

sive loss

Deficit Total

$ $ $ $ $ $

Balance - July 1, 2017 3,815$              24,526,740$    4,090,382$      (47,383)$          (35,153,009)$  (6,579,455)$     

Net profit and comprehensive 

profit

-                     -                     -                     -                     1,655,868         1,655,868         

Balance - December 31, 2017 3,815$              24,526,740$    4,090,382$      (47,383)$          (33,497,141)$  (4,923,587)$     

Balance - July 1, 2018 3,815$              24,526,740$    4,090,382$      (47,383)$          (33,928,711)$  (5,355,157)$     

Net loss and comprehensive 

loss

-                     -                     -                     -                     (29,575)              (29,575)              

Balance - December 31, 2018 3,815$              24,526,740$    4,090,382$      (47,383)$          (33,958,286)$  (5,384,732)$     

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Advantex Marketing International Inc. 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow (unaudited) 

For the three and six months ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 

(expressed in Canadian dollars)  
 

Note At December              

31, 2018

December               

31, 2017

$ $

Operational activities

Net profit/(loss) for the period (29,575)$                  1,655,868$              

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment, and 

amortization of intangible assets

12,966                     17,137                     

Accretion charge for debentures 7 147,398                   -                           

Restructuring bonus for debentures 7 125,163                   6,802                       

Non-cash portion of gain on debt restructuring -                            (1,283,611)               

255,952                   396,196                   

Changes in items of working capital

Accounts receivable (64,053)                    (167,498)                  

Transaction credits (1,063,643)               863,355                   

Inventory -                            10,481                      

Prepaid expenses and sundry assets (3,687)                       1,137                        

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (676,430)                  (297,153)                  

(1,807,813)               410,322                   

Net cash provided by / (used in) operating activities (1,551,861)$           806,518$                

Investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment, and intangible 

assets

(2,810)$                    -$                          

Net cash (used in) investing activities (2,810)$                   -$                         

Financing activities

Proceeds - 9% Non-convertible debentures payable 7 -$                         400,000$                 

Proceeds -  Loan payable 6 1,055,246                (664,571)                  

Net cash generated from / (used in) financing activities 1,055,246$             (264,571)$               

Increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents during 

the period

(499,425)$               541,947$                

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 635,836                   367,357                   

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 136,411$                909,304$                

Additional information

Interest paid 573,190$                 333,580$                 

For purposes of the cash flow statement, cash comprises 

Cash 136,411$                 909,304$                 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements  
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Advantex Marketing International Inc. 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited) 

For the three and six months ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 

(expressed in Canadian dollars) 

 
1 General information 

Advantex Marketing International Inc. and its subsidiaries (together the company or Advantex) is 
a public company with common shares listed on the Canadian Securities Exchange (trading 
symbol ADX).  Advantex operates in the marketing services industry.  The company develops and 
manages loyalty programs for financial institutions and other major organizations through which 
their customers earn frequent flyer miles or points on purchases at participating merchants.  
Under the umbrella of each program, Advantex provides merchants with marketing and 
customer incentives. At its sole discretion the company pre-purchases merchants’ future sales 
through its Advance Purchase Marketing (APM) product. Advantex is incorporated and domiciled 
in Canada, and the address of its registered office is Suite 606, 600 Alden Road, Markham, 
Ontario, L3R 0E7. 

2 Economic / Financial Dependence and Going Concern  

Economic Dependence  

The company’s revenues and gross profit are dependent on a merchant based loyalty program 
(“CIBC/TD program”) the company operates in partnership with Canadian Imperial Bank of 
Commerce (“CIBC”) and Toronto Dominion Bank (“TD”).   

$ % of Company Total $ % of Company Total

CIBC/TD program revenues 6,332,854$              83.5% 7,607,604$              83.1%

CIBC/TD program gross profit 4,634,917$             88.9% 5,355,058$             89.2%

Fiscal 2018 Fiscal 2017

 

               Status of agreements with CIBC and TD 

 

CIBC advised the company it would not be renewing its agreement with the company upon its 
expiry on March 31, 2019. 

TD advised the company it would be terminating its agreement with the company effective June 
15 , 2019.  

                  Status of agreement with Aimia Canada Inc. (“Aimia”) 

 

The Aeroplan program, which is dependent on the company’s agreement with Aimia, generated 
15.9% and 10.9% respectively of company’s revenues and gross profit during year ended June 30, 
2018 (2017 – 16.4% and 10.6% respectively). In November 2014 the company renewed its 
agreement with Aimia for a five year term ending April 30, 2019. The agreement can be 
terminated by Aimia under certain conditions during its term.  

The company’s segment reporting is provided in note 14. 
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Financial Dependence 

The company is funded by debt. The sources of debt are loan payable, and non-convertible 
debentures. 

    Loan payable  

The company has access to a line of credit facility under its loan payable (note 6). The loan 
payable agreement was established in 2007. The loan payable is used exclusively to expand the 
company’s APM product (“transaction credits” on consolidated statements of financial position) 
which is a significant driver of merchant participation in the CIBC/TD program. In certain 
circumstances the loan payable is repayable on demand.  

On January 4, 2018 the company announced it secured a renewal for a term ending in December 
2021. The agreement is subject to automatic renewal thereafter for periods of one year unless 
earlier terminated by either party prior to end of term. 

The company has more beneficial terms during the renewal term and these are explained in note 
6. 

   Non-convertible debentures  

The 12% non-convertible debentures payable (“12% debentures”) were issued by the company on 
December 30, 2013 (note 7) with an initial maturity date of September 30, 2016. The maturity 
date went through several extensions with the latest maturity date of December 31, 2017. The 
company was in breach of all its financial covenants since September 30, 2016, had not paid the 
interest since January 1, 2017 and was not in a position to re-pay the 12% debentures. 

On December 22, 2017 the company announced it re-financed the 12% debentures with the 
approval of existing holders of the 12% debentures. The refinancing was in the form of units 
comprising 9% non-convertible debentures payable (“9% debentures”) and common shares of the 
company. The 9% debentures have a maturity date of December 31, 2021. The company also 
secured new investment of $400,000 in the 9% debentures. The terms of the re-financing are 
explained in note 7.  

If the company breaches a financial covenant or is unable to pay either interest or its debts as they 
come due, it would be in default under the 9% debentures agreement and, as a result, the 9% 
debentures holders would have the right to waive the event of default, demand immediate 
payment of the 9% debentures in full or modify the terms and conditions of the 9% debentures 
including key terms such as repayment terms, interest rates and security. If the company is 
unable to secure alternative financing to pay interest or repay the 9% debentures, the 9% 
debentures holders would have the right to realize upon a part or all of the security held by them. 

The company has a decade old relationship with the primary holder of the 9% debentures – a 
Toronto based firm investing on behalf of its managed accounts. As at December 31, 2018 the 
primary holder of the 9% debentures is also the primary shareholder of the company as it 
beneficially owns or exercises control or direction through the company’s common shares held on 
behalf of its managed accounts.  The primary holder of the 9% debentures in its capacity as 
exclusive financial advisor was, until September 2017, assisting the company in its efforts to 
refinance the 12% debentures. The arrangement ended in September 2017. 

Related parties holdings, aside from the above noted holders, at December 31, 2018 of the 9% 
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debentures were about $1.2 million (about 21% of the 9% debentures) (Note 10) and about 24% of 
the company’s common shares. 
 
 
Going Concern 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting 
principles applicable to a going concern which contemplates that the company will be able to 
realize its assets and settle its liabilities in the normal course as they come due during the normal 
course of operations for the foreseeable future. When a company is aware, in making its 
assessment, of material uncertainties related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt upon the entity's ability to continue as a going concern, the entity is required to disclose 
those uncertainties.  

The company has a shareholders’ deficiency of $5,384,732 and negative working capital of 
$598,033 as at December 31, 2018.  

Due to the termination of its agreements with CIBC and TD there is uncertainty surrounding the 
company’s ability to: retain the support of its financial partners, generate cash flow sufficient to 
meet operational needs including payments to its suppliers and payment of 9% debentures 
interest, meet the financial covenants connected to the 9% debentures and seek alternative 
sources of capital to support the continuation and growth of the company. 

As a result, this may cast significant doubt on the validity of going concern assumption and the 
company’s ability to continue as a going concern after December 31, 2018 and hence the ultimate 
use of accounting principles applicable to a going concern.  

The company’s future success is dependent on retaining its relationships with the existing 
financial partners and thereby being able to continue to access existing levels of debt and obtain 
additional capital to support the company;  ability to transition shift in business focus from  
loyalty marketing plus working capital for merchants to marketing services and working capital 
for merchants; accommodation on softer payment terms from its suppliers; additional capital in 
the form of debt or equity; ensuring profitability; and generating positive cash flows from 
operations. The company’s business plan includes retaining support of its financial partners; shift 
in business focus but continuing focus  on new products offering marketing services and working 
capital to merchants; rightsizing its cost structure; accommodation on payment terms with 
suppliers; and ability to access additional capital.  While in the past the company has been 
successful in retaining support of its financial partners and been able restructure its product and 
organization there can be no assurance these initiatives will continue to be successful.  

These consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments or disclosures that may 
result from the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If the going concern assumption 
were not appropriate for these consolidated financial statements, adjustments may be necessary 
in the carrying values of assets and liabilities and the reported expenses and balance sheet 
classifications; and such adjustments could be material. 

 

        3    Basis of preparation  

These interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the 
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International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) applicable to the preparation of interim 
financial statements, including IAS 34, Interim Financial Reporting.  

These interim consolidated financial statements do not include all the information and notes 
required by IFRS for annual financial statements and therefore, should be read in conjunction 
with the audited consolidated financial statements and notes for the company’s year ended June 
30, 2018, which are available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 

These interim consolidated financial statements and related notes have been reviewed by the 
company’s audit committee and approved by the company’s board of directors on February 27, 
2019.  

Accounting standards issued but not yet applied  

The IASB has issued the following applicable standard which has not yet been adopted by the 
company. The company has not yet begun the process of assessing the impact that the new and 
amended standard will have on its consolidated financial statements or whether to early adopt 
any of the new requirements.  

The following is a description of the new standard: 

IFRS 16, Leases 
 
In January 2016, IASB issued IFRS 16, Leases which replaces IAS 17, Leases, IFRIC 4, 
Determining whether an Agreement contains a Lease, SIC-15, Operating Leases – Incentives, and 
SIC-27, Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. IFRS 16 
sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases for 
both parties to a contract, i.e. the customer (‘lessee’) and the supplier (‘lessor’). IFRS 16 will be 
effective for the company’s fiscal year beginning on July 1, 2019 with earlier adoption permitted 
provided the new revenue standard, IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with customers, has been 
applied, or is applied at the same date as IFRS 16. 

 

       4    Summary of significant accounting policies 

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year.  
 
Accounting standards IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments and IFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers were applicable for the company’s fiscal year which commenced July 1, 2018. The 
adoption of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 had no material impact on the company’s consolidated financial 
statements for the three and six months ended December 31, 2018. 

       5    Transaction credits 

Under its Advance Purchase Marketing (“APM”) product the company acquires the rights to cash 
flow from future designated credit card transactions at a discount from participating merchants 
(“transaction credits”). These transaction credits are generally estimated to be fully extinguishable 
within 365 days. The company, in the normal course of business, is exposed to credit risk on the 
transaction credits.   
 
The transaction credits are net of applicable allowance for impaired accounts, which is established 

http://www.sedar.com/
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based on the specific credit risk associated with the customer and other relevant information 
 
 

The transaction credits and the allowance is as follows:  

At December 31, 

2018

At June 30,          

2018

$ $

Transaction credits 6,686,458$             5,668,489$             

Allowance (30,389)                    (76,063)                    

Per statement of financial position 6,656,069$             5,592,426$             
 

 
The transaction credits that are considered impaired and the related allowance is as follows: 
 

At December 31, 

2018

At June 30,          

2018

$ $

Impaired transaction credits 6,613$                     74,630$                   

Allowance (1,638)                       (66,559)                    

Impaired transaction credits not allowed for 4,975$                     8,071$                     

The company carries a general allowance towards 

transaction credits of 

28,751$                   9,504$                     

 

Movement on allowance for impaired transaction credits:  

At December 31, 

2018

At December 31, 

2017

$ $

Balance brought forward at start of period 76,063$                   529,160$                

Allowance created during the period 90,288                      203,389                   

Impaired accounts written off against allowance (135,962)                  (504,476)                  

Balance carried forward at end of period 30,389$                   228,073$                
 

 

 

 

 

 

       
      6    Loan payable 
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At December 31, 

2018

At June 30,          

2018

$ $

Balance at start of period 4,427,390$             4,476,421$             

Increase/(Decrease) in borrowing 1,055,246                (49,031)                    

Balance at end of period 5,482,636$             4,427,390$             
 

This is a line of credit facility provided by Accord Financial Inc. (“Accord”), and was established in 
December, 2007.  Loan payable is used by the company exclusively to acquire transaction credits, 
under its APM product, from establishments that are in business segments available to the 
company under its agreements with CIBC, TD and Aimia. As security, Accord has first charge to 
all amounts due from establishments funded from the loan payable.  

On January 4, 2018 the company announced it secured a renewal for a term ending in December 
2021. The agreement is subject to automatic renewal thereafter for periods of one year unless 
earlier terminated by either party prior to end of term. 

During the renewal term the interest rate, effective January 1, 2018, is equivalent to prime rate of 
a certain Canadian bank plus 9.05% (compared to prime rate plus 11.5% until December 31, 
2017). Furthermore, during the renewal term the co-funding arrangement, effective December 29, 
2017, is amended to 90:10, whereby Accord funds 90% of each dollar of transaction credits 
acquired by the company. The company funds 10%. This compares to 85:15 arrangement that was 
in place until December 28, 2017.    

The facility limit is $8.5 million. 

In certain circumstances the loan payable amount is repayable on demand to Accord.  

The interest cost during the three and six months ended December 31, 2018 was $170,056 and 
$323,161 respectively (2017 $163,800 and $333,580 respectively).  

 
 
7   12% Non-convertible debentures payable and 9% Non-convertible debentures 
payable 

On December 30, 2013, the company issued 12% non-convertible debentures payable (12% 
debentures”), by way of a private placement, in the principal amount of $5,159,000. The 12% 
debentures were issued as units. The company issued 5,159 units and 42,045,850 common 
shares. The maturity date went through several extensions with the latest maturity date of 
December 31, 2017. The company was in breach of all its financial covenants since September 30, 
2016, had not paid the interest since January 1, 2017 and was not in a position to re-pay the 12% 
debentures. 
 
On December 22, 2017 the company announced it re-financed the 12% debentures with the 
approval of existing holders of the 12% debentures. The terms of the refinancing were as follows: 

1. Holders of existing 12% debentures were issued, on dollar for dollar basis, 9% non-
convertible debentures payable (“9% debentures”)  with maturity date of December 31, 2021; 
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2. The 9% debentures bear interest rate of 9% per annum payable semi-annually; 

3. Cancelation of accrued and unpaid interest on 12% debentures for period January 1, 2017 to 
December 21, 2017; 

4. Cancelation of penalty of $103,180 payable to holders of 12% debentures; 

5. Restructuring bonus payment  of $180 for each $1,000 of 9% debentures on December 31, 
2021; and 

6. 108,244 common shares of the company for each $1,000 of 9% debentures. 

 
The 9% debentures and common shares were issued as units.  The company issued 5,559 units 
comprising principal amount of $5,559,000 9% debentures and 601,728,396 common shares of 
the company, comprising: 
 
1. Principal amount of $5,159,000 9% debentures and 558,430,796 common shares of the 

company issued to holders of 12% debentures; and 

2. Principal amount of $400,000 new investment in 9% debentures and 43,297,600 common 
shares of the company. 

 
Under the agreement, the proceeds of the new investment in 9% debentures are to be used for 
working capital purposes.  
 
The 9% debentures are secured by a general security interest over the assets of the company and 
its subsidiaries. The 9% debentures require the company to meet financial covenants. In October 
2018 the 9% debentures holders amended and re-set certain financial covenants for quarters 
ending December 31, 2018 to June 30, 2020. The significant financial covenants of the 9% 
debentures require the company to meet on a quarterly basis (i) commencing the quarter ended 
March 31, 2018 a defined level of designated current assets, and (ii) commencing June 30, 2019 a 
defined level of interest coverage.  

If the company were to breach a financial covenant or were unable to pay its debts as they came 
due, it would be in default under the 9% debentures agreement and, as a result, the 9% 
debentures holders would have the right to waive the event of default, demand immediate 
payment of the 9% debentures in full or modify the terms and conditions of the 9% debentures 
including key terms such as repayment terms, interest rates and security. If the company is 
unable to secure alternative financing to repay the 9% debentures, the 9% debentures holders 
would have the right to realize upon a part or all of the security held by them.  

The company was in compliance with financial covenants at March 31, 2018, June 30, 2018, 
September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2018. 
  
The refinancing is considered a transaction with original debtholders in their capacity as 
debtholders and accounted for as an exchange of the original debt for units of 9% debentures and 
common shares.  The value of the 9% debentures and common shares was determined as the 
amount required to extinguish the original loan, with the difference resulting in a gain on the 
exchange of the debt.  The fair value of the 9% debentures issued was determined to be 
$4,275,389 based on a discounted cash flow of the interest and principal obligations of the 9% 
debentures.  The common shares were valued at $nil based on the 
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estimated market value of the common shares at the date of the refinancing.  As a result, a gain of 
$1,795,103 was recognized, in December 2017, on the refinancing.  

Movement on 12% debentures: Balance as at June 30, 2017 and upon retirement on December 
22, 2017 was $5,159,000. 

Movement on 9% debentures: 

Debt portion

$

Balance at June 30, 2018 4,547,951$             

Restructuring bonus - due 2021 - charge for the period 125,163$                 

Accretion charge for the period 147,398$                 

Balance at December 31, 2018 4,820,512$             
 

 

Stated interest and non-cash interest comprising restructuring bonus and accretion charges are as 
follows: 

Stated interest Restructuring bonus Accretion charge Stated interest Restructuring bonus Accretion charge

$ $ $ $ $ $

12% debentures -$                         -$                         -$                         295,123$                 -$                         -$                         

9% debentures 252,211$                 125,163$                 147,398$                 13,707$                   6,802$                     -$                         

252,211$                 125,163$                 147,398$                 308,830$                 6,802$                     -$                         

Period ended December 31, 2018 Period ended December 31, 2017

 

 

Stated interest for three months ended December 31, 2018 was $126,105 (2017 - $152,788) and 
restructuring bonus and accretion charges for three months ended December 31, 2018 were 
$136,886 (2017 - $6,802). 

 

8   Share capital    

       Authorized and Issued share capital.  No change during the three and six months ended December 

31, 2018. 

          

      9   Share-based payments 

Employee stock options 

The company has a stock option plan for directors, officers, employees and consultants. The 
number of employee stock options issuable per the company’s stock option plan is 16,688,546. 
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Number of 

employee stock 

options

Weighted average 

exercise price

Outstanding and Exercisable at June 30, 2018 -                           -$                         

Outstanding and Exercisable at December 31, 2018 -                           -$                         

Outstanding and Exercisable at December 31, 2017 1,400,000                0.05$                        

The outstanding and exercisable employee at December 31, 2017 were not exercised and expired 
on March 19, 2018. 

The number of employee stock options available for future issuance as at June 30, 2018 and 
December 31, 2018 was 16,688,546. 

Restricted Share Unit Plan 
 

The company has a restricted share unit plan (the “RSU Plan”), pursuant to which the Board may 
grant restricted share units (the “RSUs”) to eligible persons. The eligible persons are directors, 
officers, employees and consultants of the company designated by the Board.  
 
The maximum number of common shares of the company which may be made subject to issuance 
under RSUs granted under the RSU Plan shall not exceed 32,000,000 common shares. The 
company has not granted any RSUs under the RSU plan as at June 30, 2018 and December 31, 
2018.  
 

Potentially Dilutive Securities 

No potentially dilutive securities exist as at December 31, 2018.  

 
 

      10   Related party transactions 

Directors and Officers  

In December 2017 the related parties holding 12% debentures were issued units comprising 9% 
debentures and common shares of the company (note 7), on terms and conditions applicable to 
the other holders of 12% debentures. The holdings of 9% debentures by related parties are 
tabulated: 
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At December 31, 

2018

At June 30,         

2018

$ $

Director, Chief Executive Officer - K. Ambrose 500,000$                 500,000$                 

Director - W.Polley - Chairman of Board of Directors 50,000$                   50,000$                   

Director - M. Lavine 500,000$                 500,000$                 

Chief Financial Officer - M.Sabharwal 115,000$                 115,000$                 

1,165,000$             1,165,000$             

     

 Trapeze Capital Corp. and Trapeze Asset Management Inc. (together “Trapeze”) 

Trapeze may have been considered, at the time of the issuance of 9% debentures to be a related 
party of the company by virtue of their holding about 60% of the 12% debentures and about 15% 
of the common shares of the company, on behalf of their respective managed accounts.  Trapeze 
may be considered at September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2018 to be a related party. Trapeze is 
the principal shareholder of the company and principal holder of the 9% debentures, on behalf of 
their managed accounts (note 2). 

   

       11   Commitments and contingencies 

Commitments 

As at December 31, 2018, the company is committed to minimum payments with respect to 
existing leases for equipment and premises: 
 

Equipment Premises Total

$ $ $

Not later than one year 21,952$                   77,671$                   99,623$                   

Later than one year and not later than five years 20,802$                   207,123$                 227,925$                 

Later than five years -$                         -$                         -$                         

Total 42,754$                   284,794$                327,548$                
 

 
       
The expense related to above leases is expensed in selling and marketing, and general and 
administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of loss. 
 

The commitments for premises is for the company’s head office (note 1) which expires on August 
31, 2022.  
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Legal matters 
 
From time to time, the company is party to legal proceedings arising out of the normal course of 
business. The results of these litigations cannot be predicted with certainty, and management is of 
the opinion that the outcome of these types of proceedings is generally not determinable. Any loss 
resulting from these proceedings will be charged to operations in the period the loss is 
determined. 

 
 
 

       12   Earnings per share 

Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the net income (loss) for the period attributable to equity 
owners of the company by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during 
the period.  
 
Diluted EPS is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding for dilutive instruments.  The number of shares included with respect to options, 
warrants and similar instruments is computed using the treasury stock method.   

              Basic and Diluted EPS are tabulated. 
 

 

Three months 

ended December 

31, 2018

Three months 

ended December 

31, 2017

Six months          

ended December 

31, 2018

Six months         

ended December 

31, 2017

$ $ $ $

Net profit/(loss) and comprehensive profit/(loss) (4,828)$                    1,827,173$              (29,575)$                  1,655,868$              

Basic and Diluted EPS

Average number of issued common shares during the year 782,299,614           208,987,348           782,299,614           174,029,283           

Basic EPS (0.00)$                      0.01$                       (0.00)$                      0.01$                       

The computation for diluted EPS for three and six months ended December 31, 2018  is not provided because there are no dilutive securities. 

The computation for diluted EPS for three and six months ended December 31, 2017  is not provided because the stock options were not in 

the money.

There are no potentially dilutive common shares outstanding at December 31, 2018. At December, 2017 the company's potentially dilutive 

common shares comprise1,400,000 stock options granted to employees .
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        13   Nature of expenses 

Period ended 

December 31, 2018

Period ended 

December 31, 2017

$ $

Direct expenses
Costs of a) cardholders awards, and marketing and advertising in 

connection with the company’s merchant based loyalty programs; 

and b) cost of sales of digital marketing services

741,623$                 1,026,848$             

Expense for provision against impaired accounts receivable and 

transaction credits
78,950                     180,056                   

820,573$                1,206,904$             

Selling and Marketing, and General & Administrative

Salaries and wages including travel 1,547,882$             1,768,889$             

Professional fees 129,146                   193,782                   

Facilities, processing, and office expenses 290,629                   344,190                   

Other 39,433                      (56,544)                    

2,007,090$             2,250,317$              

 

          14   Segment reporting 

The company’s reportable segments include: (1) CIBC/TD program, (2) Aeroplan program and (3) 
Caesars program. Where applicable, corporate and other activities are reported separately as 
Corporate. The CIBC/TD program and the Aeroplan program operate in Canada. Caesars 
program operates in the U.S. 
 
During period ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 the CIBC/TD program relates to the merchant-
based loyalty program the company developed and managed respectively for CIBC and TD. 
    
The company operates Aimia’s Aeroplan loyalty program in the independent merchant business 
segment, primarily as a re-seller of aeroplan miles. The company’s Aeroplan program relates to 
merchant based loyalty program the company developed and managed for Aimia.   
          
Financial information by reportable segment for period ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 is 
tabulated. 
 
The Chief Operating Decision Maker reviews the segment income statement. The segment assets 
and liabilities are not reviewed. 
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               For the period ended December 31, 2018 

CIBC/TD 

program

Aeroplan 

program

Caesars 

program

Corporate Total

$ $ $ $ $

Revenues 3,181,801       467,909          9,277              -                  3,658,987       

Direct expenses 570,715          234,751          15,107            -                  820,573          

2,611,086       233,158          (5,830)              -                  2,838,414       

Selling & marketing 800,618          1,582              53,264            -                  855,464          

General & administrative 1,001,437       147,269          2,920              -                  1,151,626       

Earnings (loss) from operations 

before depreciation, amortization 

and interest

809,031          84,307             (62,014)           -                  831,324          

Stated interest - loan payable 323,161          -                  -                  -                  323,161          

Stated interest - Non convertible 

debentures payable

219,319          32,253            639                  -                  252,211          

Non-cash interest - Non convertible 

debentures payable - accretion 

charges and restructuring bonus

237,015          34,855            691                  -                  272,561          

29,536             17,199             (63,344)           -                   (16,609)           

Depreciation and amortization 11,275            1,658              33                    -                  12,966            

Segment profit/(loss) 18,261             15,541             (63,377)           -                   (29,575)           
 

 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

 

FORM 5 – QUARTERLY LISTING STATEMENT  
November 14, 2008 

Page 25 
 

 

 

 
               For the period ended December 31, 2017 

CIBC/TD 

program

Aeroplan 

program

Caesars 

program

Corporate Total

$ $ $ $ $

Revenues 3,399,732       554,661          19,091            10,851            3,984,335       

Direct expenses 903,415          292,922          10,567            -                  1,206,904       

2,496,317       261,739          8,524              10,851            2,777,431       

Selling & marketing 841,257          12,958            68,647            -                  922,862          

General & administrative 1,135,777       185,300          6,378              -                  1,327,455       

Earnings (loss) from operations 

before depreciation, amortization 

and interest

519,283          63,481             (66,501)           10,851             527,114          

Stated interest - loan payable 333,580          -                  -                  -                  333,580          

Stated interest - Non convertible 

debentures payable

264,236          43,109            1,485              -                  308,830          

Non-cash interest - Non convertible 

debentures payable - accretion 

charges and restructuring bonus

5,820              950                  32                    -                  6,802              

(84,353)           19,422             (68,018)           10,851             (122,098)         

Depreciation and amortization 14,663            2,392              82                    -                  17,137            

Gain on debt restructuring -                  -                  -                  1,795,103       1,795,103       

Segment profit/(loss) (99,016)           17,030             (68,100)           1,805,954       1,655,868       
 

      

15   Comparatives 

         Certain of the comparative figures have been re-classified to conform to consolidated financial 
          presentation adopted in the current year. 
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SCHEDULE C  
 
ADVANTEX® MARKETING INTERNATIONAL INC. 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Operating Results 
For the three and six month periods ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 
 
 
This management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) has been prepared based on information 
available to Advantex Marketing International Inc. (“Advantex” or “the company”) as at February 27, 
2019. MD&A is a narrative explanation to enable the reader to assess material changes in the financial 
condition and results of operations of the company during the three and six months periods ended 
December 31, 2018 compared to the three and six month periods ended December 31, 2017. This 
MD&A should be read in conjunction with the company’s audited consolidated financial statements 
and the related notes for the twelve months ended June 30, 2018, and the interim consolidated 
financial statements and the related notes for the three and six months ended December 31, 2018 
which are available on www.sedar.com. All dollar amounts are stated in Canadian Dollars, which is 
the company’s presentation and functional currency, unless otherwise noted. Certain dollar amounts 
have been rounded and may not tie directly to the interim and audited consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
Overall Performance 
 
Advantex is a leader in the marketing services and merchant cash advance industry. Currently, the 
company develops and manages merchant based loyalty programs for its “Affinity partners”, 
Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce (“CIBC”), The Toronto Dominion Bank (“TD”) and Aimia Inc. 
(“Aimia”).  The programs the company operates in partnership with CIBC and TD (“CIBC/TD 
program”) and  Aimia (“Aeroplan program”)  enable holders of designated CIBC and TD credit cards 
and members of Aeroplan  (holders and members together “consumers”) to accelerate earning 
frequent flyer miles and/or other rewards (“consumer rewards”) on completing purchases at 
participating merchants. Under the umbrella of each program, Advantex markets participating 
merchants to consumers and on behalf of the merchants issues consumer rewards, provides 
merchants with business intelligence connected to the spending behaviour of consumers, and at its 
sole discretion provides merchants with working capital by the pre-purchase of their future sales.   
 
The company’s merchant partner base currently consists of about 875 merchants participating in the 
two programs and operating across Canada in diverse business segments. 
 
Advantex earns its revenue from merchants participating in its CIBC/TD program, in the form of an 
agreed marketing fee, for every purchase completed using an eligible CIBC and TD  credit card at their 
establishments. Advantex earns its revenue in the Aeroplan program from selling consumer rewards 
(aeroplan miles), at an agreed price per consumer reward, to participating merchants.  Advantex also 
earns revenue from processing loyalty rewarding transactions for an Aimia customer.  
 
Advantex’s common shares are traded on the Canadian Securities Exchange (“CSE”) under the symbol 
ADX. 
 
 
Summary – Three and six months ended December 31, 2018 
 
The financial performance for the three months and six months ended December 31, 2018 reflects a 
stable merchant population and an efficient cost structure.  
 
The financial results for the three and six months reflect an improvement in gross profit and earnings 
from operations before depreciation, amortization and interest.   

http://www.sedar.com/
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The financial highlights for the three and six months ended December 31, 2018 (“Q2 Fiscal 2019” and 
“YTD Fiscal 2019” respectively) compared to three and six months ended December 31, 2017 (“Q2 
Fiscal 2018” and “YTD Fiscal 2018” respectively) are summarized in the tabulation. The financial 
changes from the restructuring  - a non-recurring item - is a significant factor in the company’s results 
for the three and six months ended December 31, 2017. 
 
 

Q2 Fiscal 2019 Q2 Fiscal 2018 YTD Fiscal 2019 YTD Fiscal 2018

$ $ $ $

Revenues

CIBC/TD program 1,572,589$         1,691,436$         3,181,801$         3,399,732$         

Aeroplan program 236,962              266,694              467,909              554,661              

Caesars program 3,302                   9,185                   9,277                   19,091                 

Misc -                       10,851                 -                       10,851                 

1,812,853$        1,978,166$        3,658,987$        3,984,335$        

Gross profit 1,436,791$        1,384,741$        2,838,414$        2,777,431$        

Gross margin 79.3% 70.0% 77.6% 69.7%

Earnings from operations before depreciation, 

amortization and interest

435,237$            363,706$            831,324$            527,114$            

Profit/(loss) and Comprehensive profit/(loss) before non-

recurring item

(4,828)$               32,070$              (29,575)$             (139,235)$          

Net profit/(loss) and Comprehensive profit/(loss) (4,828)$               1,827,173$        (29,575)$             1,655,868$         
 
There have been significant developments in the company’s prospects. On December 6, 2018 the 
company announced that CIBC would not be renewing its agreement expiring March 31, 2019. In 
February 2019 TD advised the company it would be terminating its agreement effective June 15, 2019.  
A significant portion, over 80% +, of the company’s revenues and gross profit are generated from 
programs the company operates in partnership with CIBC and TD.  The company has updated its 
outlook – see Outlook section in this document. 
 
In December 2018 the company discontinued its merchant based loyalty program it operated in the 
US in partnership with Caesars Entertainment Corporation program. This was a marginal activity. 
 
 
 
Outlook 
 
Advantex is shifting its business focus, but will continue to focus on marketing services and working 
capital for retail merchants to overcome the challenge to its business model from the impending exit 
of affinity partners CIBC and TD. Advantex has a strong base of existing merchants participating in its 
current program and believes it can grow this merchant base.   
 
The company believes it has the support of its existing financial partners to make a successful 
transition. While its financial partners have supported the company in the past, the most recent 
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illustration being the restructuring of December 2017, there can be no assurance of continued support 
and the terms and conditions of such support. In the event of on-going support from its financial 
partners and on terms that the company can accommodate, the company expects to continue 
operations but cautions that the road to recovery will be long and gradual. 
 
 
Income Statement – Q2 Fiscal 2019 and YTD Fiscal 2019 compared to Q2 Fiscal 2018 
and YTD Fiscal 2018 

 
       Q2 Fiscal 2019 compared to Q2 Fiscal 2018 

 
The $165,313 drop in the company’s revenues reflects mainly the decline in CIBC/TD revenues of 
$118,847 (7.0%). CIBC/TD program accounts for a significant share of the company’s revenues (over 
85% in both fiscal periods). The decline primarily reflects lower merchant participation in the 
CIBC/TD program. The average merchant participation during Q2 Fiscal 2019 at 546 was 9.8% lower 
compared to Q2 Fiscal 2018. The decline in merchant participation is explained in the section 
Revenues in this document. 
 
Gross profit is higher by $52,050 ($1,436,791 for Q2 Fiscal 2019 compared to $1,384,791 for Q2 Fiscal 
2018). CIBC/TD program accounts for a significant share of the company’s gross profit (about 90% in 
both fiscal periods). The CIBC/TD gross profit was higher by $91,772 reflecting higher program 
margin (84.2% for Q2 Fiscal 2019 compared to 72.9% for Q2 Fiscal 2018) which offset the lower 
program revenues. Gross profit is reviewed in sections Direct Expenses and Gross Profit in this 
document. 
 
Selling expenses were $54,619 lower compared to Q2 Fiscal 2018. The lower selling expenses reflect 
lower payroll costs of $39,605. In both periods payroll costs accounted for 0ver 85% of the selling 
expenses. Lower payroll costs primarily reflect headcount.  
 
General & Administrative (G&A) expenses were $35,138 higher compared to Q2 Fiscal 2018 reflecting 
(i) higher payroll costs ($65,571) which reflect roll back in August 2018 of company-wide salary cut 
implemented in August 2017, (ii) Q2 Fiscal 2018 reflects severance costs ($111,000) and (iii) Q2 Fiscal 
2018 reflects refund from CRA ($91,186). Additional details provided in section G&A Expenses. 
 
Increase of $71,531 compared to Q2 Fiscal 2018 in earnings from operations before depreciation, 
amortization and interest reflects higher gross profit and marginally lower Selling/G&A expenses.  
 
Q2 Fiscal 2019 reflects a decrease in stated (“cash”) interest cost ($20,427). The decrease reflects:  
(i) marginally higher interest ($6,256) paid on loan payable which reflects higher loan payable 

utilization; and lower interest rate; and  
(ii) Lower interest ($26,683) reflecting primarily lower coupon on 9% non-convertible debentures 

payable (“9% debentures”) issued in December 2017 compared to 12% non-convertible 
debentures payable (“12% debentures”). The lower coupon offset the higher principal 
($400,000) of the 9% debentures compared to 12% debentures.   

 
Q2 Fiscal 2019 reflects higher non-cash interest of $136,886 compared to $6,802 for Q2 Fiscal 2018. 
The YTD Fiscal 2019 non-cash interest is restructuring bonus ($62,582) and accretion charges 
($74,304) reflecting terms of the 9% debentures.  
 
Depreciation and amortization expense was flat.   
 
The above factors are reflected in a modest loss before non-recurring item of $4,828 for Q2 Fiscal 
2019 compared to profit of $32,070 for Q2 Fiscal 2018.  
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YTD Fiscal 2019 compared to YTD Fiscal 2018 
 
The $325,348 drop in the company’s revenues reflects mainly the decline in CIBC/TD revenues of 
$217,931 (6.4%). CIBC/TD program accounts for a significant share of the company’s revenues (over 
85% in both fiscal periods). The decline primarily reflects lower merchant participation in the 
CIBC/TD program. The average merchant participation during YTD Fiscal 2019 at 562 was 8.9% 
lower compared to YTD Fiscal 2018. The decline in merchant participation is explained in the section 
Revenues in this document. 
 
Gross profit is higher by $60,983 ($2,838,414 for YTD Fiscal 2019 compared to $2,777,431 for YTD 
Fiscal 2018). CIBC/TD program accounts for a significant share of the company’s gross profit (about 
90% in both fiscal periods). The CIBC/TD gross profit was higher by $114,769 reflecting higher 
program margin (82.1% for YTD Fiscal 2019 compared to 73.4% for YTD Fiscal 2018) which offset the 
lower program revenues. Gross profit is reviewed in sections Direct Expenses and Gross Profit in this 
document. 
 
Selling expenses were $67,398 lower compared to YTD Fiscal 2018. The lower selling expenses reflect 
lower payroll costs of $75,028. In both periods payroll costs accounted for 0ver 85% of the selling 
expenses. Lower payroll costs primarily reflect headcount. Another factor in YTD Fiscal 2019 is the 
roll back in August 2018 of company-wide salary cut implemented in August 2017. 
 
General & Administrative (G&A) expenses were $175,829 lower compared to YTD Fiscal 2018 
reflecting (i) higher payroll costs ($30,990) which reflect roll back in August 2018 of company-wide 
salary cut implemented in August 2017, (ii) YTD Fiscal 2018 reflects severance costs ($163,000) and 
(iii) YTD Fiscal 2018 reflects refund from CRA ($91,186). Additional details provided in section G&A 
Expenses. 
 
Increase of $304,210 compared to YTD Fiscal 2018 in earnings from operations before depreciation, 
amortization and interest reflects higher gross profit and lower Selling/G&A expenses.  
 
YTD Fiscal 2019 reflects a decrease in stated (“cash”) interest cost ($67,038). The decrease reflects:  
(iii) marginally lower interest ($10,419) paid on loan payable which reflects higher loan payable 

utilization and lower interest rate; and 
(iv) Lower interest ($56,619) reflecting primarily lower coupon on 9% debentures issued in December 

2017 compared to 12% debentures. The lower coupon offset the higher principal ($400,000) 
of the 9% debentures compared to 12% debentures.   

 
YTD Fiscal 2019 reflects higher non-cash interest of $272,561 compared to $6,802 for YTD Fiscal 
2018. The YTD Fiscal 2019 non-cash interest is restructuring bonus ($125,163) and accretion charges 
($147,398) reflecting terms of the 9% debentures.  
 
Depreciation and amortization expense was marginally lower.   
 
The above factors are reflected in a modest loss before non-recurring item of $29,575 for YTD Fiscal 
2019 compared to loss before non-recurring item of $139,235 for YTD Fiscal 2018.  
 
 
 
Balance Sheet – December 31, 2018 compared to December 31, 2017 
 
Transaction credits at December 31, 2018 were $6,656,069 compared to $4,686,357 at December 31, 
2017, an increase of $1,969,712. Transaction credits account for 93.9% of Q2 Fiscal 2019 total assets 
(Q2 Fiscal 2018 76.8%). Merchant count at December 31, 2018 was 531 compared to 594 at December 
31, 2017. The increase in transaction credits in relation to merchant participation is primarily a 
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reflection of the availability of working capital, post restructuring completed in December 2017, 
leading to increased purchase of transaction credits from the company’s existing merchant portfolio. 
The movement in merchant participation is discussed in the section Revenue in this document. 
 
During YTD Fiscal 2019 the company placed cash surplus to its immediate working capital needs with 
provider of loan payable. This reduced the interest cost on loan payable. The amount of such cash at 
December 31, 2018 was $175,000. The loan payable is used to fund pre-purchase at a discount future 
sales at merchants (“transaction credits”). Adjusting for the $175,000, the loan payable balance at 
December 31, 2018 was $1,845,786 higher compared to corresponding periods in the previous year. 
The increase was to expectation given the increase in transaction credits and consequent to the 
change in the co-funding formula from 85:15 to 90:10 from end of December 2017. Timing of 
collection from and deployment of advances to merchants also effects the balance at period ends. 
 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities at December 31, 2018 are lower by $767,693 compared to 
December 31, 2017 and reflect steady payment of liabilities – generally in the form of agreed payment 
plans - post restructuring of December 2017. 
 
A detailed look at the results for Q2 Fiscal 2019 and YTD Fiscal 2019 compared to corresponding 
periods in the previous year is set out in the following sections.  
 
 
 

      Results of Operations 
 
       

Q2 Fiscal 2019 Q2 Fiscal 2018 YTD Fiscal 2019 YTD Fiscal 2018

$ $ $ $

Revenues 1,812,853$        1,978,166$        3,658,987$        3,984,335$        

Direct expenses - Cost of cardholder rewards and 

marketing merchants to cardholders 334,884              545,273              741,623              1,026,848           

Direct expenses - Expense for provision against delinquent 

accounts 41,178                 48,152                 78,950                 180,056              

Gross profit 1,436,791$        1,384,741$        2,838,414$        2,777,431$        

Selling and General & Administrative 1,001,554           1,021,035           2,007,090           2,250,317           

Earnings from operations before depreciation, 

amortization and interest

435,237$            363,706$            831,324$            527,114$            

Cash interest on loan payable and debentures 296,161               316,588               575,372               642,410               

Earnings (loss) from operations before depreciation, 

amortization and non-cash interest on debentures 

(accretion charges)

139,076$            47,118$              255,952$            (115,296)$          

Depreciation and amortization 7,018                   8,246                   12,966                 17,137                 

Non cash interest expense on debentures 136,886              6,802                   272,561              6,802                   

Profit/(loss) and Comprehensive profit/(loss) before non-

recurring item

(4,828)$               32,070$              (29,575)$             (139,235)$          

Gain on debt restructuring -$                     1,795,103$         -$                     1,795,103$         

Net profit/(loss) and Comprehensive profit/(loss) (4,828)$               1,827,173$        (29,575)$             1,655,868$        

Basic and Diluted profit/(loss) per share -$                     0.01$                   -$                     0.01$                    
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   Extract from the Statement of Financial Position 
 

At December 31, 

2018

At June               

30, 2018

Increase/                  

(Decrease)

$ $ $

Current assets 7,051,891$         6,419,933$         631,958$             

Total assets 7,085,704$         6,463,902$         621,802$             

Shareholders' deficiency (5,384,732)$        (5,355,157)$        29,575$                
 

The change in current assets primarily reflects an increase in transaction credits (net of provision for 
delinquent accounts) of $1,063,643. While the merchant participation at December 31, 2018 is lower 
compared to June 30, 2018, this increase in transaction credits is primarily a reflection of higher pre-
purchase of future sales at a discount (transaction credits) from high volume established merchants. 
The cash and cash equivalents decreased by $499,425. This decrease together with decrease of cash 
surplus to immediate requirements ($425,000) held by the company with Accord reflects the 
decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities and investment of 10% as amount co-funded with 
Accord in the transaction credits. Furthermore, the cash balances and transaction credits at the end of 
a quarter / year reflect utilization of cash in and by the operations of the company and the timing 
difference between the company’s ongoing deployment and collection of transaction credits from 
merchants participating in its CIBC/TD program’s APM product.  
 
The change in the total assets primarily reflects increase in the current assets.  
 
The movement in the shareholders’ deficit reflects net loss during YTD Fiscal 2019. 
 
 
Extracts from the Statement of Cash Flow 
 

YTD Fiscal 2019 YTD Fiscal 2018 Change

$ $ $

Net profit/(loss) (29,575)$              1,655,868$         (1,685,443)$        

Adjustments for non cash expenses 285,527               (1,259,672)          1,545,199            

Income after adjustments for non cash expenses 255,952$             396,196$             (140,244)$           

Changes in working capital (1,807,813)          410,322               (2,218,135)          

Net cash generated from / (used in) financing activities 

supporting working capital

1,055,246            (264,571)              1,319,817            

Net cash provided by / (used in) operations (496,615)$           541,947$             (1,038,562)$        

Net cash provided by / (used in) investing activities (2,810)                  -                       (2,810)                  

Increase (Decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (499,425)              541,947$             (1,041,372)$        

Cash and cash equivalents at start of period 635,836$             367,357$             268,479$             

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 136,411$             909,304$             (772,893)$           
 

 
 
Changes in working capital. Transaction credits, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities and other working capital items. During YTD Fiscal 2019, the significant items are increase 
in transaction credits, net of provision for delinquent accounts, of $1,063,643 and decrease in 
accounts payable and accrued liabilities of $676,430. While the merchant participation at December 
31, 2018 is lower compared to June 30, 2018 there is an increase in transaction credits and this 
reflects higher pre-purchase of future sales at a discount (transaction credits) from high volume 
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established merchants. Decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities since June 30, 2018 
reflects settlement of severances, continuing settlement of accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
following the restructuring and settlement of 9% debenture interest for the period June 16, 2018 to 
December 15, 2018. During YTD Fiscal 2018 changes reflect decrease in transaction credits, net of 
provision for delinquent accounts, of $863,355 which is a reflection of a decrease in merchant 
participation. Increase in accounts receivable of $167,498 primarily reflects amount of $102,028 
receivable from CRA which was received. Decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities reflects 
cancellation of interest, on 12% debentures for period January 1, 2017 to December 21, 2017, 
consequent to the close of the restructuring, provision for professional fees connected to the 
restructuring, and provision for severances resulting from the restructuring of the organization. 
 
Financing activities. YTD Fiscal 2019 reflects the change in the loan payable balance consequent to 1. 
changes in transaction credits purchased from existing merchant portfolio and 2. cash surplus to 
immediate requirements being used to reduce loan payable utilization. YTD Fiscal 2018 reflects the 
new investment of $400,000 in the 9% debentures and the change in the loan payable balance 
consequent to change in the co-funding arrangement.  YTD Fiscal 2018 movement in loan payable 
also reflects changes in merchant participation. Both periods also reflect the timing difference 
between the company’s ongoing deployment and collection of transaction credits from merchants 
participating in its CIBC/TD program’s APM product. Merchant participation is discussed in the 
section Revenue. 
 
Investing activities. The company did not incur material capital expenditures or enter into any 
material equipment leases during the periods under review. The company secures lease arrangements 
for the bulk of equipment requirements. The financial commitments on existing leases is provided in 
the section Contractual Obligations in this document. The lease costs are reflected in expenses. The 
company is not contemplating material capital commitments during fiscal year ending June 30, 2019. 
 
The presentations in Results of Operations section are not set out in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The presentations are extracts from the 
interim consolidated financial statement for the three and six months ended December 31, 2018, 
and have been included to provide additional analysis for the reader.  

 
 
 
Revenue 
  
The company’s revenue is derived from merchants participating in its Retail programs which 
currently consist of the CIBC/TD program, the Aeroplan program. Caesars program was discontinued 
in December 2018. 
 
During the periods under review the Retail programs had five business products. APM, Marketing 
Only, Re-seller, Processing and Participation fee which are described later in this section. 
 
The CIBC/TD program operates the APM, and Marketing Only business products.   
 
The Aeroplan program operates the Re-seller and Processing products. 
 
The Caesars program operates the Participation fee product. 
  
The nature of the company’s products is as follows: 
 
Advance Purchase Marketing (“APM”): The company acquires the rights to cash flow from 
future designated CIBC and TD credit card transactions at a discount from participating merchants 
(transaction credits on consolidated statement of financial position) and promotes the merchant by 
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way of targeted marketing to holders of designated CIBC/TD credit cards, issues consumer rewards to 
consumers when they complete purchases at participating merchants, and provides merchants with 
business intelligence connected to the spending behaviour of consumers. The company’s revenue is 
from the purchases completed at the participating merchants using designated CIBC and TD credit 
cards, net of the company’s costs to acquire the transaction credits. Proceeds from the amount spent 
on above noted CIBC/TD credit cards at participating merchants are received by the company and a 
predetermined portion is applied to reduce the transaction credit balance. 
 
Marketing Only: The company does not acquire transaction credits. In all other respects Marketing 
Only is similar to APM. Revenue is earned in the form of an agreed marketing fee for every purchase 
completed using CIBC/TD credit card (as defined under APM) at participating merchants.  
 
Re-seller: The company sells aeroplan miles to small and mid-sized retailers and service providers.  
Revenue is recognized, at the agreed price per aeroplan mile, when the participating merchant issues 
aeroplan miles to an Aeroplan member completing a qualifying transaction at the merchant.  
 
Processing: The company processes issuance of aeroplan miles for a Aimia customer. Revenue is 
recognized at the agreed price per aeroplan mile processed by the company. This activity generated 
about 15% of Aeroplan program revenues during Fiscal 2018 (Fiscal 2017 just over 4%). 
 
Participation fee: The company markets participating merchants to Caesars Total Rewards 
members and the merchant issues total rewards loyalty points to Total Rewards members completing 
a qualifying transaction at the merchant. The merchant pays an agreed monthly fee to Advantex. 
 
The drivers for revenues from the CIBC/TD program are: 
 
1. Number of participating merchants; 
2. Market penetration of the CIBC/TD credit cards;  
3. Economic environment; 
4. Mix of merchants in terms of their volume of CIBC/TD credit card transactions; and 
5. Participation levels in APM and Marketing Only. The fees that a merchant would pay for 

participation in the APM product is higher compared to Marketing Only. 
 
The revenues from the Re-seller product reflect the number of participating merchants, traffic of 
aeroplan members completing purchases at participating merchants and the level of engagement of 
participating merchants in the program.  
 
The revenues from the discontinued Caesars program were dependent on the number of participating 
merchants.  
 
The company believes the primary driver of revenues across all programs is the number of merchants 
participating in the programs.  
 
The revenue trends are provided in the tabulation.  
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Q2 Fiscal 2019 Q2 Fiscal 2018 Inc./(Dec) YTD Fiscal 2019 YTD Fiscal 2018 Inc./(Dec)

Avg. # of merchants participating during 

the periods

CIBC/TD program 546 605                      -9.8% 562 617                      -8.9%

Aeroplan program 334 354                      -5.6% 341 373                      -8.6%

$ $ $ $ $ $

Revenues

CIBC/TD program 1,572,589$         1,691,436$         (118,847)$           3,181,801$         3,399,732$         (217,931)$           

Aeroplan program 236,962               266,694               (29,732)                467,909               554,661               (86,752)                

Caesars program 3,302                   9,185                   (5,883)                  9,277                   19,091                 (9,814)                  

Misc -                       10,851                 (10,851)                -                       10,851                 (10,851)                

1,812,853$        1,978,166$        (165,313)$          3,658,987$        3,984,335$        (325,348)$          
 

 
 
CIBC/TD program 
 
Merchant participation decline during Q2 Fiscal 2019 (9.8%) and YTD Fiscal of 2019 (8.9%) 
compared to corresponding periods in the previous year is the primary reason for the decline in 
revenues in Q2 Fiscal 2019 (7.0%) and YTD Fiscal 2019 (6.4%) compared to corresponding periods in 
the previous year. 
 
  
Aeroplan program 
 
Decline in Q2 Fiscal 2019 and YTD Fiscal 2019 re-seller revenues primarily reflects decline in 
merchant participation.  
 

Q2 Fiscal 2019 Q2 Fiscal 2018 Inc./(Dec) YTD Fiscal 2019 YTD Fiscal 2018 Inc./(Dec)

$ $ % $ $ %

Avg. # of merchants participating during 

the periods

334                      354                      -5.6% 341                      373                      -8.6%

Revenue - Re-seller 205,624$             225,645$             -8.9% 404,585$             477,083$             -15.2%

Revenue - Processing (no Direct Expenses) 31,338$               41,049$               63,324$               77,578$               

236,962$             266,694$             467,909$             554,661$             
 

 
 
 
Direct Expenses 
 
In the CIBC/TD program, direct expenses include costs of consumer rewards which the company 
purchases from CIBC and TD, the cost of marketing and advertising on behalf of merchants, cost of 
sales of digital marketing services and provision against receivables. 
 
In the Aeroplan program, direct expenses are primarily costs of consumer rewards which the 
company purchases from Aimia. Other costs include cost of marketing and advertising on behalf of 
merchants and provision against receivables. 
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Caesars program direct expenses are costs of consumer rewards which the company purchases from 
Caesars. 
 

Q2 Fiscal 2019 Q2 Fiscal 2018 Inc./(Dec) YTD Fiscal 2019 YTD Fiscal 2018 Inc./(Dec)

$ $ % $ $ %

Revenues

CIBC/TD program 1,572,589$         1,691,436$         -7.0% 3,181,801$         3,399,732$         -6.4%

Aeroplan program 236,962               266,694               -11.1% 467,909               554,661               -15.6%

Caesars program 3,302                   9,185                   -64.1% 9,277                   19,091                 -51.4%

Misc -                       10,851                 -                       10,851                 

1,812,853$        1,978,166$        -8.4% 3,658,987$        3,984,335$        -8.2%

Direct expenses

CIBC/TD program 247,901$             458,520$             -45.9% 570,715$             903,415$             -36.8%

Aeroplan program 117,326               130,004               -9.8% 234,751               292,922               -19.9%

Caesars program 10,835                 4,901                   -121.1% 15,107                 10,567                 43.0%

376,062$            593,425$            -36.6% 820,573$            1,206,904$        -32.0%
 

 
 
 CIBC/TD program  
 

Q2 Fiscal 2019 Q2 Fiscal 2018 Inc./(Dec) YTD Fiscal 2019 YTD Fiscal 2018 Inc./(Dec)

$ $ % $ $ %

Avg. # of merchants participating during 

the periods

546                      605                      -9.8% 562                      617                      -8.9%

Revenue 1,572,589$         1,691,436$         -7.0% 3,181,801$         3,399,732$         -6.4%

Direct expenses

Consumer rewards 241,373$            296,700$            -18.6% 515,334$            593,246$            -13.1%

Marketing and advertising 41,029                 134,293              -69.4% 102,110              200,738              -49.1%

Marketing/Program support by Affinity 

partners

(68,170)                (20,625)                230.5% (118,170)              (70,625)                67.3%

Expense for delinquent accounts 33,669                 48,152                 -30.1% 71,441                 180,056              -60.3%

247,901$            458,520$            -45.9% 570,715$            903,415$            -36.8%
 

 

The Q2 Fiscal 2019 and YTD Fiscal 2019 decline in cost of consumer rewards primarily reflects 
decline in merchant population and revenues. 
 
The Q2 Fiscal 2019 and YTD Fiscal 2019 decline in marketing and advertising costs reflects decline in 
merchant participation and revenues, timing of marketing expenditures which vary in a fiscal year. 
Timing is driven by marketing needs of the merchant portfolio and the marketing calendars of Affinity 
partners. 
The Q2 Fiscal 2019 expense for delinquent accounts (2.1% of revenues) and YTD Fiscal 2019 (2.2% of 
revenues) is lower than expectations. The YTD Fiscal 2019 expense is lower 
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than corresponding period in the previous year (YTD Fiscal 2018 at 5.3%). The company now expects 
the expense for Fiscal year ending June 30, 2019 to be in the 3%-4% range. Delinquencies are 
discussed in the section Critical Accounting Estimates – Credit Risk.  

 

 Aeroplan program.  
 

Q2 Fiscal 2019 Q2 Fiscal 2018 Inc./(Dec) YTD Fiscal 2019 YTD Fiscal 2018 Inc./(Dec)

$ $ % $ $ %

Avg. # of merchants participating during 

the periods

334                      354                      -5.6% 341                      373                      -8.6%

Revenue - Re-seller 205,624$             225,645$             -8.9% 404,585$             477,083$             -15.2%

Revenue - Processing (no Direct Expenses) 31,338$               41,049$               63,324$               77,578$               

236,962$             266,694$             467,909$             554,661$             

Direct expenses

Consumer rewards 117,326              130,004              -9.8% 234,751              292,922              -19.9%

117,326$            130,004$            -9.8% 234,751$            292,922$            -19.9%
 

 

The decline in Q2 Fiscal 2019 and YTD Fiscal 2019 direct expenses primarily reflects decline in re-
seller product revenues.  
 
 
Gross Profit 
 
Gross margins of Q2 Fiscal 2019 and YTD Fiscal 2019 compared to Q2 Fiscal 2018 and YTD Fiscal 
2018 are tabulated below: 
  

Q2 Fiscal 2019 Q2 Fiscal 2018 YTD Fiscal 2019 YTD Fiscal 2018

CIBC/TD program 84.2% 72.9% 82.1% 73.4%

Aeroplan program 50.5% 51.3% 49.8% 47.2%  
 
 
Improvement in Q2 Fiscal 2019 and YTD Fiscal 2019 CIBC/TD program gross margin compared to 
corresponding periods in the previous year reflects lower direct expenses which are explained in 
section Direct Expenses in this document.  
 
Aeroplan program Q2 Fiscal 2019 and YTD Fiscal 2019 gross margins are flat to corresponding 
periods in the previous years. 
 
The company gross profit for Q2 Fiscal 2019 and YTD Fiscal 2019 was higher compared to the 
corresponding period in the previous year reflecting primarily an improvement in the CIBC/TD 
program gross margin which offset the decline in the program revenues. 
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Q2 Fiscal 2019 Q2 Fiscal 2018 Inc./(Dec) YTD Fiscal 2019 YTD Fiscal 2018 Inc./(Dec)

$ $ % $ $ %

CIBC/TD program 1,324,688$         1,232,916$         7.4% 2,611,086$         2,496,317$         4.6%

Aeroplan program 119,636              136,690              -12.5% 233,158              261,739              -10.9%

Caesars program (7,533)                  4,284                   -275.8% (5,830)                  8,524                   -168.4%

Misc -                       10,851                 -                       10,851                 -100.0%

1,436,791$        1,384,741$        3.8% 2,838,414$        2,777,431$        2.2%
 

 
 

    
Selling Expenses 

 
Selling expenses include expenses arising from remuneration of sales staff, transaction processing 
and other selling activities. The significant component is cost of sales staff. 
 
 

Q2 Fiscal 2019 Q2 Fiscal 2018 Inc./(Dec) YTD Fiscal 2019 YTD Fiscal 2018 Inc./(Dec)

$ $ % $ $ %

Revenues

CIBC/TD program 1,572,589$         1,691,436$         -7.0% 3,181,801$         3,399,732$         -6.4%

Aeroplan program 236,962               266,694               -11.1% 467,909               554,661               -15.6%

Caesars program 3,302                   9,185                   -64.1% 9,277                   19,091                 -51.4%

Misc -                       10,851                 0.0% -                       10,851                 0.0%

1,812,853$        1,978,166$        -8.4% 3,658,987$        3,984,335$        -8.2%

Selling expenses

CIBC/TD program 364,408$            397,102$            -8.2% 800,618$            841,257$            -4.8%

Aeroplan program -                       7,940                   -100.0% 1,582                   12,958                 -87.8%

Caesars program 23,637                 37,622                 -37.2% 53,264                 68,647                 -22.4%

388,045$            442,664$            -12.3% 855,464$            922,862$            -7.3%

Remuneration of sales staff 344,694$            384,299$            -10.3% 749,354$            824,382$            -9.1%

Remuneration as % of selling expenses 88.8% 86.8% 87.6% 89.3%  
 
 
CIBC/TD program 
 
The company started to re-build its sales organization from middle of March 2017. The goal was to 
create a sales organization that would, post successful December 2017 restructuring, enable a gradual 
and sustained growth in merchant count and revenues. The company expected to re-build the sales 
organization by end of May 2018 but it was expected to take a couple of iterations before the ideal 
team was in place, which it expected to complete during fiscal year ending June 30, 2019. The costs 
reflect team building process.  Given the going forward shift in business focus the company will be 
further restructuring its sales organization. 
 
 
Aeroplan program 
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The sales and account management functions were managed by resources from CIBC/TD program 
and other internal functions. This has aligned costs to expected medium term activity levels. 
 
 
 
General and Administrative Expenses (“G&A”) 
 
G&A expenses include compensation for all non-sales staff, professional fees, head office premises 
costs, shareholder and public relations costs, office overheads, capital and income taxes, and foreign 
exchange gains/(losses).  
 
 

Q2 Fiscal 2019 Q2 Fiscal 2018 Inc./(Dec) YTD Fiscal 2019 YTD Fiscal 2018 Inc./(Dec)

$ $ % $ $ %

Change in revenues -8.4% -8.2%

G&A

Compensation for non-sales staff 385,654$            320,083$            20.5% 751,374$            720,384$            4.3%

Severances (8,206)                  111,000               (8,206)                  163,000               

Refund from CRA -                       (91,186)                -                       (91,186)                

All other G&A expenses 236,061               238,474               408,458               535,257               

613,509$            578,371$            6.1% 1,151,626$        1,327,455$        -13.2%  
 
 Compensation  
 
Q2 Fiscal 2019 and YTD Fiscal 2019 reflect the roll back in August 2018 of the company-wide salary 
reduction of between 10% and 20% implemented from mid-August 2017. 
 
  Severances 
 
Q2 Fiscal 2018 and YTD Fiscal 2018 severances are consequent to the restructuring of the 
organization. 
 
 Refund from CRA 
 
Q2 Fiscal 2018 and YTD Fiscal 2018 reflects a refund of $102,028 (including interest of $10,846 
which is reflected in Misc. revenue) by CRA. In December 2003 the company completed a tax assisted 
financing transaction with a promoter of the transaction whereby it raised funds from the sale of its 
tax losses. Subsequent to the transaction the CRA and tax payers participating in the promoter’s 
structure were in dispute and while the company was not a party to the dispute its share of tax losses 
solely consequent to the transaction were disallowed and this resulted in nominal annual tax liability 
which the company settled. Upon resolution of the dispute the previously disallowed tax losses were 
partially allowed and this resulted in the refund. 
 
 All other expenses 
 
Q2 Fiscal 2019 is flat to corresponding period in the previous year.  
 
YTD Fiscal 2019 reflects write-back of about $36,000 from provision for legal expenses on account of 
rebate received from advisors.  
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In addition, in both Q2 Fiscal 2019 and YTD Fiscal 2019 directors’ fees are lower on account of 
smaller membership (independent directors – 2 during YTD Fiscal 2019 compared to 3 during YTD 
Fiscal 2018). 
 
Interest Expense 

 
 

Q2 Fiscal 2019 Q2 Fiscal 2018 Inc./(Dec) YTD Fiscal 2019 YTD Fiscal 2018 Inc./(Dec)

$ $ % $ $ %

Loan payable 170,056$            163,800$            323,161$            333,580$            

12% debentures -                       139,081               -                       295,123               

9% debentures 126,105               13,707                 252,211               13,707                 

296,161               316,588               575,372               642,410               

Non-cash interest - 9% debentures - 

restructuring bonus

62,582                 6,802                   125,163               6,802                   

Non cash interest (accretion charge) on 

9% debentures

74,304$              -$                     147,398$            -$                     

433,047$            323,390$            33.9% 847,933$            649,212$            30.6%
 

 
 
Loan payable interest cost reflects utilization of line of credit and the interest rate applied to the line. 
The interest rate during YTD Fiscal 2018 was 9.05% plus prime rate of a certain Canadian bank 
compared to 11.5% plus prime rate during YTD Fiscal 2017. The interest rate during YTD Fiscal 2019 
increased due to the interest rate hikes in the prime rate. 
 
The cash component of the 9% debentures interest cost reflects the higher principal amount and 
lower coupon compared to the 12% debentures. The restructuring bonus and the accretion charges 
reflect the terms of the 9% debentures and the accounting treatment (per IFRS) of the 9% debentures. 
The debentures are discussed in the section 12% non-convertible debentures payable and 9% non-
convertible debentures payable in this document. 
 
 
Non-recurring Item 
 
A gain on debt restructuring of $1,795,103 has been recognized on the refinancing. This consists of the 
book value of the 12% debentures of $5,864,299, including accrued interest and penalties, plus the 
cash proceeds on the refinancing of $400,000 less the fair value of the 9% debentures of $4,275,389 
and financing costs of $193,807. 
  

9% debentures

Non-recurring item 

Costs to close the refinancing (193,807)$               

Extingusiment of interest and penalty of 12% 

debentures

705,299                   

Adjustment to reflect fair value of 9% debentures 1,283,611                

1,795,103$             
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Net Profit/(Loss) 
  
Highlights are tabulated: 
 

Q2 Fiscal 2019 Q2 Fiscal 2018 Inc./(Dec) YTD Fiscal 2019 YTD Fiscal 2018 Inc./(Dec)

$ $ $ $ $ $

Revenues 1,812,853$         1,978,166$         (165,313)$           3,658,987$         3,984,335$         (325,348)$           

Gross margin 79.3% 70.0% 77.6% 69.7%

Gross profit 1,436,791$         1,384,741$         52,050$               2,838,414$         2,777,431$         60,983$               

Earnings from operations before 

depreciation, amortization and interest

435,237$            363,706$            71,531$               831,324$            527,114$            304,210$             

Profit/(loss) and Comprehensive 

profit/(loss) before non-recurring item

(4,828)$                32,070$               36,898$               (29,575)$              (139,235)$           (109,660)$           

Net Profit/(loss) (4,828)$                1,827,173$         1,832,001$         (29,575)$              1,655,868$         1,685,443$         

Basic and Diluted profit/(loss) per share -$                     0.01$                   -$                     0.01$                   
  
 
Q2 Fiscal 2019 compared to Q2 Fiscal 2018 
 
The $165,313 drop in the company’s revenues reflects mainly the decline in CIBC/TD revenues of 
$118,847. Gross margin reflects improvement in CIBC/TD program, 84.2% for Q2 Fiscal 2019 
compared to 72.9% for Q2 Fiscal 2018. Gross profit improvement of $52,050 reflects the $91,772 
improvement in gross profit from CIBC/TD program offset by decline in the other programs. Q2 
Fiscal 2019 SG&A expenses are marginally lower compared to Q2 Fiscal 2018. The improvement of 
$71,531 in earnings from operations before depreciation, amortization and interest reflects higher 
gross profit and lower SG&A. Q2 Fiscal 2019 reflects a decrease in cash interest expense of $20,427 
offset by the increase in non-cash interest on 9% debentures of $130,084. Depreciation and 
amortization expense is flat. Q2 Fiscal 2019 loss before non-recurring item of $4,828 is a decrease in 
profitability of $36,898 compared t0 Q2 Fiscal 2018.  Q2 Fiscal 2018 net profit of $1,827,173 reflects 
non-recurring item of $1,795,103. 
 
Detailed discussion on revenues, direct expenses, gross profit, SG&A, interest expense, non-recurring 
item is available in the respective sections earlier in this document. 
 
YTD Fiscal 2019 compared to YTD Fiscal 2018 
 
The $325,348 drop in the company’s revenues reflects mainly the decline in CIBC/TD revenues of 
$217,931. Gross margin reflects improvement in CIBC/TD program, 82.1% for YTD Fiscal 2019 
compared to 73.4% for YTD Fiscal 2018. Gross profit improvement of $60,983 reflects the $114,769 
improvement in gross profit from CIBC/TD program offset by declines in other programs. YTD Fiscal 
2018 SG&A expenses are $243,227 lower compared to YTD Fiscal 2018. The improvement of 
$304,210 in earnings from operations before depreciation, amortization and interest primarily 
reflects lower SG&A.  YTD Fiscal 2019 reflects a decrease in cash interest expense of $67,038 offset by 
the increase in non-cash interest on 9% debentures of $265,759. Depreciation and amortization 
expense is marginally lower. YTD Fiscal 2019 loss before non-recurring item of $29,575 is an 
improvement in profitability of $109,660 compared t0 YTD Fiscal 2018. YTD Fiscal 2018 net profit of 
$1,655,868 reflects non-recurring item of $1,795,103.  
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Detailed discussion on revenues, direct expenses, gross profit, SG&A, interest expense, non-recurring 
item is available in the respective sections earlier in this document. 
 
Working Capital and Liquidity Management 
 

Q2 Fiscal 2019 Q2 Fiscal 2018 YTD Fiscal 2019 YTD Fiscal 2018

$ $ $ $

Funds available to expand the CIBC/TD 

programs APM product (Transaction 

credits on the balance sheet) and meet 

working capital needs

Net profit/(loss) (4,828)$                1,827,173$         (29,575)$              1,655,868$         

Adjustments for non cash expenses 143,904               (1,268,563)          285,527               (1,259,672)          

Income after adjustment for non cash 

expenses

139,076               558,610               255,952               396,196               

Cash balances at start of the period 302,537              426,376              635,836              367,357              

Inc. 9% debentures -                       400,000               -                       400,000               

Inc./(dec) in loan payable 849,150               (816,486)              1,055,246            (664,571)              

1,290,763$        568,500$            1,947,034$        498,982$            

Utilization of funds

Cash balances at end of periods 136,411$            909,304$            136,411$            909,304$            

Inc./(dec) in transaction credits 728,667               (860,239)              1,063,643            (863,355)              

Decrease in Accounts payable 400,604               438,275               676,430               297,153               

Changes in all other working capital items 25,081                 81,160                 67,740                 155,880               

Capital expenditures -                       -                       2,810                   -                       

1,290,763$        568,500$            1,947,034$        498,982$            
 

 
 
In December 2017 the company completed a restructuring of its financial partnership. The 
restructuring is explained in sections Loan Payable and 12% Non-Convertible Debentures Payable and 
9% Non-Convertible Debentures Payable in this document. Post restructuring and to date cash and 
cash equivalents surplus to immediate operating requirements were used to reduce the loan payable 
and consequently the interest paid. Balance of such cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2018 
was $175,000.  
 
The company believes that increasing the amount of the transaction credits deployed with merchants 
under the CIBC/TD program’s APM product will result in higher revenue and, consequently, improve 
the company’s financial results and cash flows. Generally, the change in transaction credits partially 
reflects the change in the number of merchants participating in the APM product, as well as the 
amount of transaction credits deployed with its existing merchants.  
 
Changes in working capital. Transaction credits, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued 
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liabilities and other working capital items. During YTD Fiscal 2019, the significant items are increase 
in transaction credits, net of provision for delinquent accounts, of $1,063,643 and decrease in 
accounts payable and accrued liabilities of $676,430. While the merchant participation at December 
31, 2018 is lower compared to June 30, 2018 there is an increase in transaction credits and this 
reflects higher pre-purchase of future sales at a discount (transaction credits) from high volume 
established merchants. Decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities since June 30, 2018 
reflects settlement of severances, continuing settlement of accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
following the restructuring and settlement of 9% debenture interest for the period June 16, 2018 to 
December 15, 2018. During YTD Fiscal 2018 changes reflect decrease in transaction credits, net of 
provision for delinquent accounts, of $863,355 which is a reflection of a decrease in merchant 
participation. Increase in accounts receivable of $167,498 primarily reflects amount of $102,028 
receivable from CRA which was received. Decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities reflects 
cancellation of interest, on 12% debentures for period January 1, 2017 to December 21, 2017, 
consequent to the close of the restructuring, provision for professional fees connected to the 
restructuring, and provision for severances resulting from the restructuring of the organization. 
 
Financing activities. YTD Fiscal 2019 reflects the change in the loan payable balance consequent to 1. 
changes in transaction credits purchased from existing merchant portfolio and 2. cash surplus to 
immediate requirements being used to reduce loan payable utilization. YTD Fiscal 2018 reflects the 
new investment of $400,000 in the 9% debentures and the change in the loan payable balance 
consequent to change in the co-funding arrangement.  YTD Fiscal 2018 movement in loan payable 
also reflects changes in merchant participation. Both periods also reflect the timing difference 
between the company’s ongoing deployment and collection of transaction credits from merchants 
participating in its CIBC/TD program’s APM product. Merchant participation is discussed in the 
section Revenue. 
 
Investing activities. The company did not incur material capital expenditures or enter into any 
material equipment leases during the periods under review. The company secures lease arrangements 
for the bulk of equipment requirements. The financial commitments on existing leases is provided in 
the section Contractual Obligations in this document. The lease costs are reflected in expenses. The 
company is not contemplating material capital commitments during fiscal year ending June 30, 2019. 
 
From time to time the company enters into payment plans to settle its dues. As of date hereof there 
are payment plans with two affinity partners and certain vendors.  The company had a payment plan 
with CIBC to settle outstanding amounts by July 31, 2017 and these were settled by the due date.  
 
While, generally the cash balances at the end of a quarter/year reflect cash generated/(used) by 
operations [profit/(loss) before depreciation of property, plant and equipment, and amortization of 
intangible assets; and non-cash interest on debentures, the other factors are timing difference 
between the company’s ongoing collection of transaction credits from and deploying advances to 
merchants, payments of accounts payable, funds from Affinity partners towards marketing initiatives. 
The additional consideration at December 31, 2017 and 2018 is the cash raised following the close of 
restructuring with its financial partners. Furthermore, cash surplus to immediate operating 
requirements was used to reduce the loan payable and consequently the interest cost. Balance of such 
cash at December 31, 2018 was $175,000. 
 
The company’s operations are funded by debt – loan payable and 9% debentures (see sections Loan 
Payable and 12% Non-Convertible Debentures Payable and 9% Non-Convertible Debentures Payable) 
in this document. Both the partnerships are set-up for maturity/expiry in December 2021, on terms 
that the company believes are beneficial, and provide access to working capital to support, post 
termination of its agreements with CIBC and TD, shift in the business focus. Additional working 
capital in the form of debt and/or equity will be required to successfully transition existing merchant 
base to new marketing services and working capital products and expand the product. 
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To continue its current operations and fund growth beyond Fiscal year ended June 30, 2018 and 
period ended December 31, 2018, the company requires continued access to its existing levels of debt 
and access to additional working capital in the form of debt and or equity.  
 
The company’s future continuation of its business and success is dependent on retaining its existing 
relationships with Aimia/new owner of Aeroplan, Accord and holders of 9% debentures and it 
believes it has their support. 
 
Except for the leasing arrangements the company does not participate in off balance sheet financing 
arrangements. 
 
The consolidated financial statements for the three and six months ended December 31, 2018 have 
been prepared in accordance with accounting principles applicable to a going concern which 
contemplates that the company will be able to realize its assets and settle its liabilities in the normal 
course as they come due during the normal course of operations for the foreseeable future. When a 
company is aware, in making its assessment, of material uncertainties related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt upon the entity's ability to continue as a going concern, the entity is 
required to disclose those uncertainties.  
 
The company has a shareholders’ deficiency of $5,384,732 and negative working capital of $598,033 
as at December 31, 2018.  
 
Due to the termination of its agreements with CIBC and TD there is uncertainty surrounding the 
company’s ability to: retain the support of its financial partners, generate cash flow sufficient to meet 
operational needs including payments to its suppliers and payment of 9% debentures interest, meet 
the financial covenants connected to the 9% debentures and seek alternative sources of capital to 
support the continuation and growth of the company. 
 
As a result, this may cast significant doubt on the validity of going concern assumption and the 
company’s ability to continue as a going concern after December 31, 2018 and hence the ultimate use 
of accounting principles applicable to a going concern.  
 
The company’s future success is dependent on retaining its relationships with the existing financial 
partners and thereby being able to continue to access existing levels of debt and obtain additional 
capital to support the company;  ability to transition shift in business focus from  loyalty marketing 
plus working capital for merchants to marketing services and working capital for merchants; 
accommodation on softer payment terms from its suppliers; additional capital in the form of debt or 
equity; ensuring profitability; and generating positive cash flows from operations. The company’s 
business plan includes retaining support of its financial partners; shift in business focus but 
continuing focus  on new products offering marketing services and working capital to merchants; 
rightsizing its cost structure; accommodation on payment terms with suppliers; and ability to access 
additional capital.  While in the past the company has been successful in retaining support of its 
financial partners and been able restructure its product and organization there can be no assurance 
these initiatives will continue to be successful.  
The consolidated financial statements for the three and six months ended December 31, 2018 do not 
include any adjustments or disclosures that may result from the company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern. If the going concern assumption were not appropriate for these consolidated financial 
statements, adjustments may be necessary in the carrying values of assets and liabilities and the 
reported expenses and balance sheet classifications; and such adjustments could be material. 
 
 
Contractual Obligations  
 
Contractual obligations as at December 31, 2018 were due as follow: 
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Contractual obligations

Total Less than 1 year 1 to 3 years 4 to 5 years

$ $ $ $

Loan payable 5,482,636$         5,482,636$         -$                     -$                     

9% debentures 5,559,000$         -$                     5,559,000$         -$                     

Operating leases 327,548$            99,623$              176,144$            51,781$              

11,369,184$      5,582,259$        5,735,144$        51,781$              
 

 
 
  
In addition, 9% debenture interest of $1,521,776 is payable for the period December 16, 2018 to 
maturity on December 31, 2021 (interest is paid semi-annually, June 15 and December 15). The 
company also has a liability of restructuring bonus for $1,000,620 to the holders of the 9% 
debentures payable on December 31, 2021. 
 
The expense related to above leases is expensed in selling and marketing, and general and 
administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of income. 
 
Furthermore, in August 2017 the company renewed its lease for the company’s head office for five 
year term ending August 31, 2022. The commitment from January 2019 to August 2022 is $284,794. 
 
 
Loan Payable  
 
The loan payable is a line of credit facility with Accord Financial Inc. (“Accord”) to be used exclusively 
to fund the merchants participating in the APM product in the business segments available to the 
company under its agreements with CIBC, TD and Aimia.  As security, Accord has first charge to all 
amounts due from merchants funded from the loan payable.  
 
The loan payable was established in December 2007.  The current term of the loan payable is due to 
expire in December 2021. The agreement is subject to automatic renewal thereafter for periods of one 
year unless earlier terminated by either party prior to end of term. 
 
During the renewal term commencing January 1, 2018 the interest rate is equivalent to prime rate of a 
certain Canadian bank plus 9.05% (compared to prime rate plus 11.5% until December 31, 2017). 
Furthermore, during the renewal term the co-funding arrangement is amended to 90:10, whereby 
Accord funds 90% of each dollar of amounts funded to merchants. The company funds 10%. This 
compares to 85:15 arrangement until December 28, 2017.    
 
The facility has a limit of $8.5 million.  
Interest is calculated daily on the amount outstanding and charged monthly. 
 
In certain circumstances the loan payable amount is repayable on demand to Accord.  
 
The company had utilized $5.5 million of the facility at December 31, 2018 (at December 31, 2017 
$3.8 million). 
 
With the change in the loan payable terms effective January 1, 2018, the company and Accord did not 
renew the temporary overdraft facility of $100,000 which expired December 31, 2017. 
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12% Non-Convertible Debentures Payable and 9% Non-convertible Debentures Payable 
 
On December 30, 2013, the company issued 12% non-convertible debentures (“12% debentures”), by 
way of a private placement, in the principal amount of $5,159,000. The 12% debentures were issued 
as units. Each unit comprised (i) $1,000 face value secured non-convertible debentures of the 
company bearing interest at 12% per annum, payable semi-annually, and with an initial maturity date 
of September 30, 2016, and (ii) 8,150 common shares in the capital of the company. The company 
issued 5,159 units and 42,045,850 common shares. The maturity date went through several 
extensions with the latest maturity date of December 31, 2017. The company was in breach of all its 
financial covenants since September 30, 2016, had not paid the interest since January 1, 2017 and was 
not in a position to re-pay the 12% debentures. 
 
On December 22, 2017 the company announced it re-financed the new 12% debentures with the 
approval of existing holders of the 12% debentures. The terms of the refinancing are as follows: 

1. Holders of existing 12% debentures were issued, on dollar for dollar basis, 9% non-
convertible debentures payable (“9% debentures”)  with maturity date of December 31, 2021; 

2. The 9% debentures bear interest rate of 9% per annum payable semi-annually; 
3. Cancelation of accrued and unpaid interest on 12% debentures for period January 1, 2017 to 

December 21, 2017; 
4. Cancelation of penalty of $103,180 payable to holders of 12% debentures; 
5. Restructuring bonus payment of $180 for each $1,000 of 9% debentures on December 31, 

2021; and 
6. 108,244 common shares of the company for each $1,000 of 9% debentures. 
 

The 9% debentures and common shares were issued as units.  The company issued 5,559 units 
comprising principal amount of $5,559,000 9% debentures and 601,728,396 common shares of the 
company, comprising: 

 
1. Principal amount of $5,159,000 9% debentures and 558,430,796 common shares of 

the company issued to holders of 12% debentures; and 
2. Principal amount of $400,000 new investment in 9% debentures and 43,297,600 

common shares of the company. 
 

Under the agreement, the proceeds of the 9% debentures are to be used for working capital purposes.  
 
The 9% debentures are secured by a general security interest over the assets of the company and its 
subsidiaries. The 9% debentures require the company to meet financial covenants. In October 2018 
the 9% debentures holders amended and re-set certain financial covenants for quarters ending 
December 31, 2018 to June 30, 2020. The significant financial covenants of the 9% debentures 
require the company to meet on a quarterly basis (i) commencing the quarter ended March 31, 2018 a 
defined level of designated current assets, and (ii) commencing June 30, 2019 a defined level of 
interest coverage. If the company were to breach a financial covenant or were unable to pay its debts 
as they came due, it would be in default under the 9% debentures agreement and, as a result, the 9% 
debentures holders would have the right to waive the event of default, demand immediate payment of 
the 9% debentures in full or modify the terms and conditions of the 9% debentures including key 
terms such as repayment terms, interest rates and security. If the company is unable to secure 
alternative financing to repay the 9% debentures, the 9% debentures holders would have the right to 
realize upon a part or all of the security held by them.  

 
The company was in compliance with financial covenants at March 31, 2018, June 30, 2018, 
September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2018. 
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      Summary of Quarterly Results 
       

In millions of dollars except per share amounts

12 month period ended December 31, 2018

Q3 Fiscal 2018 Q4 Fiscal 2018 Q1 Fiscal 2019 Q2 Fiscal 2019 Total

Mar 31, 2018 Jun 30, 2018 Sep 30, 2018 Dec 31, 2018

Revenue 1.7                        1.9                        1.8                        1.8$                     7.2$                     

Percent of annual revenue 23.6% 26.4% 25.0% 25.0% 100.0%

Net income/(loss) (0.1)                      (0.3)                      -                       -$                     (0.4)$                    

Profit/(Loss) per share - Basic and Diluted -                       -                       -                       -$                     -$                     

12 month period ended December 31, 2017

Q3 Fiscal 2017 Q4 Fiscal 2017 Q1 Fiscal 2018 Q2 Fiscal 2018 Total

Mar 31, 2017 Jun 30, 2017 Sep 30, 2017 Dec 31, 2017

Revenue 1.9$                     2.3$                     2.0$                     2.0$                     8.2$                     

Percent of annual revenue 23.2% 28.0% 24.4% 24.4% 100.0%

Net income/(loss) (0.5)$                    (0.4)$                    (0.2)$                    1.8$                     0.7$                     

Profit/(Loss) per share - Basic and Diluted -$                     -$                     -$                     0.01$                   -$                     

Q2 Fiscal 2018 net profit includes gain on debt restructuring of $1.8 million  
 
The fluctuations in the company’s quarterly revenues from its Retail programs reflect seasonal 
consumer behavior at merchants participating in the Retail programs, as well as the other factors 
described under section Revenue in this document.   
 
The fluctuations in the company’s quarterly results reflect revenues and the costs to earn the 
revenues. 

 
 
Capital Resources 
 
The company did not incur material capital expenditures or enter into any material equipment leases 
during the periods under review. The company secures lease arrangements for the bulk of equipment 
requirements. The financial commitments on existing leases is provided in the section Contractual 
Obligations in this document. The lease costs are reflected in expenses. The company is not 
contemplating material capital commitments during fiscal year ending June 30, 2019. 
 
There are no material commitments for capital expenditures as of the date hereof.  
 
Critical Accounting Estimates 
 
The preparation of the company’s consolidated financial statements, in accordance with IFRS, 
requires the company’s management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
interim and annual consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and 
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
The company’s significant accounting policies are disclosed in note 4 to the audited consolidated 
financial statements for year ended June 30, 2018. The adoption of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15, applicable for 
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the company’s fiscal year which commenced July 1, 2018, had no material impact on the company’s 
consolidated financial statements for the three and six months ended December 31, 2018. 
 
 
  Contingent liabilities  
 
From time to time, the company is party to legal proceedings arising out of the normal course of 
business. The results of these litigations cannot be predicted with certainty, and management is of the 
opinion that the outcome of these types of proceedings is generally not determinable. Any loss 
resulting from these proceedings will be charged to operations in the period the loss is determined. 
 
  Going concern  
 
The company tests the going concern assumption on a quarterly basis. In assessing whether the 
going concern assumption is appropriate, management considers all available information about the 
future, which is at least, but is not limited to, twelve months from the end of the reporting period. 
The company’s interim consolidated financial statements for the three and six months ended 
December 31, 2018 carry a going concern note (note 2). The note is also carried in the Working 
Capital and Liquidity Management section in this document. 
 
  Financial instruments – fair value  
 
The carrying value of accounts receivable, transaction credits, accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities, loan payable approximate their fair values due to the short-term maturity of these 
instruments.  
 
A significant amount of estimation was applied in evaluation the fair value of the 9% debentures. 
Estimates applied by management in the determination of fair value are reflective of the company’s 
overall cost of equity capital.  
 
  Credit risk  
 
The company has certain business risks linked to the collection of its transaction credits. Under the 
APM product the company generally acquires the rights to cash flow from future designated credit 
card transactions (“future sales”) at a discount from participating merchants (“transaction credits” on 
consolidated statement of financial position). These transaction credits are estimated to be fully 
extinguishable within 30 – 365 days. Until these transaction credits have been extinguished through 
designated cardholder spend at participating merchants, there is a credit risk, and an increase in 
credit risk associated with the longer time frame approaching and/or exceeding 365 days. In the event 
of default, the company has set up escalating collection measures, and an allowance is determined on 
specifically identified transaction credit balances that are delinquent and amount of the specific 
provision is determined based on whether the account has been referred  to collection agency, for 
legal action, whether the company’s attempt to debit the merchant’s bank account for payments due 
to the company has been rejected, the underlying reason for the rejections, and the company’s 
historical experience on recoveries. 
 
The maximum exposure to credit risk is the balance, net of provision for impaired accounts, of the 
transaction credits, and accounts receivable.  
 
The accounts receivable, transaction credits, and the allowance is as follows: 
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At December 31, 

2018

At June 30,                

2018

$ $

Transaction credits 6,686,458$         5,668,489$         

Accounts receivable 181,375               117,322               

Allowance (35,389)                (81,063)                

Per statement of financial position 6,832,444$         5,704,748$         

Maximum exposure to credit risk 6,832,444$         5,704,748$          
 
The transaction credits that are considered impaired and the related allowance is as follows: 
 

At December 31, 

2018

At June 30,                

2018

$ $

Impaired transaction credits 6,613$                 74,630$              

Allowance (1,638)                  (66,559)                

Impaired transaction credits not allowed 

for

4,975$                 8,071$                 

The company carries a general allowance 

towards transaction credits of 

28,751$              9,504$                 

 
 
 
 
Stock Options 
 
The company has a stock option plan for directors, officers, employees and consultants. The stock 
options are non-assignable; the stock option price is to be fixed by the Board of Directors but may 
not be less than the regulations of the stock exchange on which the company’s common shares are 
listed; the term of the stock options may not exceed five years, and payment for the optioned shares 
is required to be made in full on the exercise of the stock options. The stock options are subject to 
various vesting provisions, determined by the Board of Directors, ranging from immediate to 
four years.  

 
Movement during YTD Fiscal 2019 and YTD Fiscal 2018 is tabulated.  
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YTD Fiscal 2019 YTD Fiscal 2018

Outstanding at July 1 -                       1,490,000            

Expired -                       -                       

Forfeited -                       -                       

Granted -                       -                       

Outstanding at September 30 -                       1,490,000           

Expired -                       -                       

Forfeited -                       90,000-                 

Granted -                       -                       

Outstanding at December 31 -                       1,400,000           

Number of options

 
 
 
The number of stock options available for future issuance at December 31, 2018 compared to 
December 31, 2017 is as follows: 
 

YTD Fiscal 2019 YTD Fiscal 2018

Maximum number of shares reserved for 

issuance 

16,688,546         16,688,546         

Less: outstanding at end of period -                       (1,400,000)          

Number of options available for future 

issuance

16,688,546         15,288,546         

Number of options

 
 
There was no stock based compensation expense during YTD Fiscal 2019 and YTD Fiscal 2018. 
 
 
Restricted Share Unit Plan 
 
On December 18, 2017, the Board of Directors (“Board”) authorized, subject to approval by the 
shareholders of the company, the creation of a restricted share unit plan (the “RSU Plan”), pursuant 
to which the Board may grant restricted share units (the “RSUs”) to eligible persons. The eligible 
persons are directors, officers, employees and consultants of the company designated by the Board. 
 
The shareholders of the company approved the RSU Plan at the Annual and Special Meeting of the 
Shareholders held on February 28, 2018. 
 
The maximum number of common shares of the company which may be made subject to issuance 
under RSUs granted under the RSU Plan shall not exceed 32,000,000 common shares. The company 
has not granted any RSUs under the RSU plan as at December 31, 2018. 
 
 
Outstanding Share Data 
     
As of June 30, 2018, December 31, 2018 and the date hereof, the number of issued and outstanding 
common shares of the company is 782,299,614. The number of common shares is provided by the 
company’s transfer agent AST Trust Company. 
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Potentially Dilutive Securities 
 
As of date hereof, there are no potentially dilutive securities exercisable into common shares of the 
company.  
 
 
Related party transactions  
 
Directors and Officers  
 
In December 2017 the related parties holding 12% debentures were issued with 9% debentures and 
common shares on terms and conditions applicable to the other holders of 12% debentures. The 12% 
debentures were purchased by the related parties on terms and conditions applicable to the other 
subscribers. 
 
The holdings of 9% debentures by related parties are tabulated.  

 

 

At December 31, 

2018

At June 30,         

2018

$ $

Director, Chief Executive Officer - K. Ambrose 500,000$                 500,000$                 

Director - W.Polley - Chairman of Board of Directors 50,000$                   50,000$                   

Director - M. Lavine 500,000$                 500,000$                 

Chief Financial Officer - M.Sabharwal 115,000$                 115,000$                 

1,165,000$             1,165,000$             
  

 
As at December 31, 2018 the related parties held 194,610,188 common shares of the company 
representing about 24% of the issued and outstanding common shares of the company. 
 
 
Trapeze Capital Corp. and Trapeze Asset Management Inc. (together “Trapeze”) 
 
Trapeze may have been considered, at the time of the issuance of 9% debentures to be a related party 
of the company by virtue of their holding about 60% of the 12% debentures and about 15% of the 
common shares of the company, on behalf of their respective managed accounts. Trapeze may be 
considered as at December 31, 2018 to be a related party. Trapeze is the principal shareholder of the 
company and the principal holder of the 9% debentures, on behalf of their respective managed 
accounts. 
 
 
Economic Dependence 
 
A significant portion of the company’s current revenue and gross profit is dependent upon its value-
added loyalty program agreement with CIBC and TD under which consumer rewards are awarded to 
holders of designated CIBC and TD credit cards when they complete purchases at merchants 
participating in Advantex’s CIBC/TD program.  
 
Illustration of economic dependence on CIBC/TD program. Revenue and gross profit are tabulated.  
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$ % of Company Total $ % of Company Total

CIBC/TD program revenues 6,332,854$              83.5% 7,607,604$              83.1%

CIBC/TD program gross profit 4,634,917$             88.9% 5,355,058$             89.2%

Fiscal 2018 Fiscal 2017

 
 
CIBC advised the company it would not be renewing its agreement with the company upon its expiry 
on March 31, 2019. TD advised the company it would be terminating its agreement with the company 
effective February 15, 2019.  
 
The company’s interim consolidated financial statements for the three and six months ended 
December 31, 2018 carry a going concern note (note 2). The note is also carried in the Working 
Capital and Liquidity Management section in this document. 
 
 
General Risks and Uncertainties  
 
As indicated in the Economic Dependence section of this document a significant portion of the 
company’s current revenue is dependent on its value-added loyalty agreement with CIBC and TD.  
With the termination of the agreements with CIBC and TD the company is materially and adversely 
affected. The company’s interim consolidated financial statements for the three and six months 
ended December 31, 2018 carry a going concern note (note 2). The note is also carried in the 
Working Capital and Liquidity Management section in this document. 
 
The company’s operations are funded by debt – loan payable and 9% debentures (see sections Loan 
Payable and 12% Non-Convertible Debentures Payable and 9% Non-Convertible Debentures Payable) 
in this document). Both the partnerships are set-up for maturity/expiry in December 2021. The 
company’s relationship with the primary holder of the 9% debentures holders, and providers of loan 
payable span over a decade. To continue its current operations and fund growth, the company 
requires continued access to its existing levels of debt and access to additional working capital in the 
form of debt and or equity. The loan payable is a demand facility. The 9% debentures carry financial 
covenants. The 9% debentures are secured by a general security interest over the assets of the 
company and its subsidiaries. If the company were to breach a financial covenant or were unable to 
pay its debts as they came due, it would be in default under the 9% debentures agreement and, as a 
result, the 9% debentures holders would have the right to waive the event of default, demand 
immediate payment of the 9% debentures in full or modify the terms and conditions of the 9% 
debentures including key terms such as repayment terms, interest rates and security. If the company 
is unable to secure alternative financing to repay the 9% debentures, the 9% debentures holders 
would have the right to realize upon a part or all of the security held by them. Due to the termination 
of its agreements with CIBC and TD there is uncertainty surrounding the company’s ability to retain 
the support of its financial partners, generate cash flow sufficient to meet operational needs including 
payment of 9% debentures interest, meet the financial covenants connected to the 9% debentures and 
have continued access to existing sources of debt and support the growth of the company.  
 
Furthermore, general market conditions or the financial status of the company in terms of its 
profitability, cash flows and strength of its consolidated balance sheet may eliminate or may limit 
access to additional financing and / or alternative funding to replace existing debt, or the terms of 
accessible debt may be uneconomic and this could materially and adversely affect the company and 
impair its ability to continue as a going concern. 
 
The company’s future and success is dependent on retaining its relationships with the existing 
financial partners and thereby being able to continue to access existing levels of debt and obtain 
additional capital to support the company, and post termination of relationships with CIBC and TD its 
ability to transition its business model from loyalty marketing plus working 
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capital i.e. its APM product for merchants to marketing services and working capital for merchants. 
While in the past the company has been successful in retaining support of its financial partners and 
been able restructure its product and organization there can be no assurance these initiatives will 
continue to be successful. If the company is not successful this could affect the company’s liquidity 
and working capital position and its ability to continue as a going concern.  
 
The company has certain business risks linked to the collection of its transaction credits. Under the 
CIBC/TD program’s APM product the company acquired the rights to cash flow from future 
designated credit card transactions (“future sales”) at a discount from participating merchants 
(“transaction credits” on consolidated statement of financial position). These transaction credits are 
generally estimated to be fully extinguishable within 30 – 365 days of the funds being deployed with 
the merchant.  With the company losing access to CIBC and TD cardholder spend the company has to 
reach agreements with merchants to establish revised collection methodology and collection time-
table. There can be no assurance on the successful collection of transaction credits and the time-line 
of such collection.  
 
While the company is not exposed to interest rate risk on account of 9% debentures due to the fixed 
interest rate its future cash flows are exposed to interest risk from the floating interest rate payable, 
calculated as prime rate of a certain Canadian bank plus 9.05%, on loan payable. In the event the 
company is able to continue as a going concern, the company would have to either use derivative 
instruments to reduce its exposure to interest rate risk or absorb the adverse interest rate movement 
or pass on all or some of the adverse rate movement to its merchants. Had the interest rate, for the six 
months ended December 31, 2018 been 10% higher the interest expense on loan payable would have 
been $355,477, an increase of $32,316.  
 
The company’s operations are dependent on the abilities, experience and efforts of its management 
and highly skilled workforce. While the company has entered into employment agreements with key 
management personnel and other employees, and each of these agreements includes confidentiality 
and non-competition clauses, the business prospects of the company could be adversely affected if 
any of these people were unable or unwilling to continue their employment with the company.  
 
In addition to going concern, economic factors, factors noted in the Working Capital and Liquidity 
Management section, and those factors noted above in this section, the profitability of the company is 
also subject to a number of additional risk factors including: ability to transition its business focus;; 
raise additional capital in the form of either debt or equity which is needed to meet immediate and 
future operational and expansion requirements; ability to negotiate payment plans with its vendors; 
competition; changes in regulations - including taxation - affecting the company’s activities. 
 
In the ordinary course of business, the company is subject to ongoing audits by tax authorities. While 
the company believes that its tax filing positions are appropriate and supportable, from time to time, 
certain matters are reviewed and challenged by the tax authorities. The company regularly reviews the 
potential for adverse outcomes in respect of tax matters and believes that any ultimate disposition of a 
reassessment will not have a material adverse impact on its liquidity, consolidated financial position 
or results of operations due to adequate provisioning for these tax matters. Should an outcome 
materially differ from existing provisions, the company’s effective tax rate, its earnings, and its 
liquidity and working capital position could be affected positively or negatively in the period in which 
matters are resolved.  
 
 
Forward-Looking Information    
 
This Management’s Discussion and Analysis contains certain “forward-looking information”. All 
information, other than information comprised of historical fact, that addresses activities, events or 
developments that the company believes, expects or anticipates will or may occur in the future 
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constitutes forward-looking information. Forward-looking information is typically identified by words 
such as: anticipate, believe, expect, goal, intend, plan, will, may, should, could and other similar 
expressions. Such forward-looking information relates to, without limitation, information regarding 
the company’s:  plan to shift its business focus to overcome challenge to its business model; 
expectation from its shift in business focus/new products and organization; belief it has support of its 
financial partners and expectation of terms of their support; expectation of the period and pace of 
recovery of its operations and financial performance; expectation of future capital expenditures; belief 
higher amount of transaction credits will improve financial results and cash flows; expectation of 
retaining/establishing relationship to operate Aeroplan program; ability to manage credit and 
collection risk; expectations of future delinquency expense; belief it has support of its staff; belief in 
the appropriateness of its tax filings; and other information regarding financial and business 
prospects and financial outlook is forward-looking information.  
 
Forward-looking information reflects the current expectations or beliefs of the company based on 
information currently available to the company, including certain assumptions and expectations of 
Management. With respect to the forward-looking information contained in this Management 
Discussion and Analysis, the company has made assumptions regarding, among other things, With 
respect to the forward-looking information contained in this Management Discussion and Analysis, 
the company has made assumptions regarding, among other things: continued support from its 
provider of loan payable and holders of 9% debentures on existing terms;  ability to execute plan to 
transition its business model; ability to access additional working capital in the form of debt and or 
equity to meet immediate operational needs during the period of plan implementation and to support 
the growth of the company; ability to restructure its organization and adjust costs to expected 
revenues; continuation of Aeroplan program it currently operates; ability to manage risks connected 
to collection of transaction credits; current and future economic and market conditions and the 
impact of same on its business; the size of the market for marketing services and working capital for 
merchants;  future business levels, and the cost structure, capital expenditures and working capital 
required to operate at those levels; future interest rates; and the appropriateness of its tax filing 
position. 
 
Forward-looking information is subject to a number of risks, uncertainties and assumptions that may 
cause the actual results of the company to differ materially from those discussed in the forward-
looking information, and even if such actual results are realized or substantially realized, there can be 
no assurance that they will have the expected consequences to, or effects on the company. Factors that 
could cause actual results or events to differ materially from current expectations include, among 
other things, those listed under “Working Capital and Liquidity Management”, “General Risks and 
Uncertainties” and “Economic Dependence” in this Management Discussion and Analysis.  
 
All forward-looking information speaks only as of the date on which it is made and, except as may be 
required by applicable securities laws, the company disclaims any intent or obligation to update any 
forward-looking information, whether as a result of new information, future events or results or 
otherwise. Although the company believes that the assumptions inherent in the forward-looking 
information are reasonable, forward-looking information is not a guarantee of future performance 
and accordingly undue reliance should not be put on such information due to the inherent uncertainty 
therein.  

 
Disclosure Controls and Procedures, and Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting  

        
Management is responsible for external reporting. The company maintains appropriate processes to 
ensure that relevant and reliable financial information is produced.  
 
Additional Information 
 
Additional information relating to the company is available at www.sedar.com, and may also be obtained by request by 
telephone or facsimile or at the company’s website at www.advantex.com.  

http://www.sedar.com/
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® ADVANTEX and ® ADVANCE PURCHASING MARKETING are Registered Trademarks of Advantex Marketing 
International Inc.  

 
® Aeroplan is a Registered Trademark of Aimia Canada Inc.; CIBC and TD are Authorized Licensee of the Mark.   

 

 
 

 


